
High Peak Borough Council

AUDIT & REGULATORY COMMITTEE AGENDA

Date: Wednesday, 23 October 2019

Time: 6.30 pm

Venue: The Octagon Lounge, Pavilion Gardens, Buxton

The internal and external auditors will be available to meet committee 
members from 6.15 to 6.30 pm. Any councillors who are not able or do 
not wish to attend the session at 6.15 pm are requested to join the 
meeting with the Executive Councillors and officers at 6.30 pm.

15 October 2019

PART 1
1. Apologies for absence 

2. To receive Disclosures of Interest on any matters before the Committee 

 i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
ii) Other Interests. 

3. To approve the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8)

4. External Audit Update (Pages 9 - 22)

5. External Audit 2018/19 Annual Audit Letter (Pages 23 - 36)

6. Risk Management Update (overview of strategic, operational and project risks) 
(Pages 37 - 56)

7. Treasury Management - Mid Year Update Report (Pages 57 - 70)

8. 2019/20 Internal Audit Periodic Report April 2019 to September 2019 (Pages 71 - 
86)

9. Review of Polling Places and Polling Stations (Pages 87 - 138)

10. Appointment of Independent Member (Pages 139 - 142)

11. Appointment of Mayor 2020/21 (Pages 143 - 144)

12. Work Programme (Pages 145 - 146)

SIMON BAKER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Public Document Pack



Membership of Audit & Regulatory Committee
Councillor E Thrane (Chair) Councillor O Cross (Vice-Chair)
Councillor J Douglas Councillor D Kerr
Councillor E Longden Councillor R Quinn
Councillor K Savage Councillor G Wharmby
Mr P Grant Mr M Thomas



1

AUDIT & REGULATORY COMMITTEE

Meeting: Wednesday, 24 July 2019 at 6.30 pm in Meeting Room A  - Buxton Town Hall

Present: Councillor E Thrane (Chair) 

Councillors T Ashton (substitute for J Douglas), O Cross, D Kerr, E Longden, 
R Quinn and K Savage

Councillor A Barrow, Mr P Grant and Mr M Thomas were also in attendance.

An apology for absence was received from Councillor J Douglas

20/8 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
(Agenda Item 3)

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 6 June 2019 be 
approved as a correct record.

20/9 EXTERNAL AUDIT FINDINGS
(Agenda Item 4)

The External Auditor advised of the substantial completion of the audit of the  
financial statements and anticipated unqualified audit opinion. Based on 
work to address the significant risks, the Council had proper arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  

Outstanding items, the McCloud judgement and adjustments were 
considered. An update would be available at the next meeting.   

RESOLVED:

That the update be received with thanks.

20/10 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2018/19
(Agenda Item 6)

Regulation 6 (1) (a) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requires 
the Council to conduct a review each financial year of the effectiveness of its 
system of internal control and approve an Annual Governance Statement 
(AGS).  The statement needs to be prepared in accordance with proper 
practices in relation to accounts and must be approved in advance of the 
Council approving the statement of accounts. ‘Proper practices in relation to 
accounts’ relates to those accounting practices which are contained in a 
code of practice or other document which is identified for the purposes of 
this provision by regulations made by the Secretary of State. Such guidance 
is contained in the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy 
(CIPFA) / Society of Local Authority Chief Executives (SOLACE) framework 
and guidance on ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’.

High Peak Borough Council

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Audit & Regulatory Committee
Wednesday, 24 July 2019

2

Discussion took place on governance issues, opinion and the future 
management of Building Control, The expected date for transferral of street 
cleansing would be updated. 

RESOLVED:

That the Annual Governance Statement 2018/19 be approved.

20/11 DRAFT STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2018/19
(Agenda Item 7)

The Committee considered the audited Statement of Accounts 2018/19, in 
compliance with the legislative provisions in relation to financial reporting 
and the Council’s commitment to transparency and accountability in the 
stewardship of public funds. 

Discussion took place on the audit in progress and External Audit not 
expecting adjustments.  Useable reserves, revenue funded from capital 
under statute, variance against other operating expenditure were also 
discussed.

RESOLVED: 

That approval be given to the audited Statement of Accounts 2018/19, 
subject to the Chairman considering any additional adjustments and 
Committee members being kept informed.

20/12 ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT 2018/19
(Agenda Item 8)

Consideration was given to the Council’s treasury management 
performance in 2018/19 in compliance with the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management and generally accepted good practice.  

Discussion took place on the rise in the Bank of England base rate later 
than expected, outturns, rescheduling of loans and investments.

RESOLVED:

That Council be recommended to approve the Annual Treasury 
Management Report 2018/19.

20/13 TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE
(Agenda Item 9)

The Council’s treasury management performance in 2019/20 was 
scrutinised in compliance with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management and 
generally accepted good practice.  

Page 4



Audit & Regulatory Committee
Wednesday, 24 July 2019

3

Discussion took place on quarter 1 outturn and updates to interest rate 
forecasts.

RESOLVED: That Council be recommended to note the current treasury 
management position (as at 30th June 2019).

20/14 2018/19 INTERNAL AUDIT PERIODIC REPORT
(Agenda Item 10)

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 required the Council to “undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance”.  In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards, the Audit Manager must report periodically to the Audit Committee on 
the internal audit activity’s performance relative to its plan. The substantial 
assurance of the General Ledger audit was well received.

RESOLVED:

That the progress information contained within the report be noted.

20/15 INTERNAL AUDIT - ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19
(Agenda Item 11)

It was reported that the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requires the 
Council to “undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the 
effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance processes, 
taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or guidance”.  In 
accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Audit 
Manager must deliver an annual internal audit opinion and report that can 
be used by the organisation to inform its governance statement.  

Discussion took place on the planned Committee knowledge and skills 
assessment. 

RESOLVED:

1. That the Audit Service’s 2018/19 year end performance information 
contained within the report be noted and staff thanked for their work.

2. That the opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Council’s internal control environment be noted.

20/16 2018/19 ANNUAL REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL AUDIT
(Agenda Item 12)

The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require the Council in each financial 
year to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control, and that the findings of this review must be considered by a 
committee or by members of the authority meeting as a whole.  An annual 
review of the effectiveness of Internal Audit to demonstrate conformance 
with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and Local Government 
Application Note forms part of this review.  Page 5



Audit & Regulatory Committee
Wednesday, 24 July 2019

4

The external quality assessment of internal audit was discussed. 

RESOLVED:

That the annual review of the effectiveness of Internal Audit for 2018/19 including 
the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme be noted and that Internal 
Audit is operating effectively and can be relied upon when considering the Annual 
Governance Statement for 2018/19. 

20/17 2018/19 ANNUAL REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS OF THE AUDIT AND 
REGULATORY COMMITTEE
(Agenda Item 13)

Having considered the report on the Annual Review of the Effectiveness of Internal 
Audit, the Committee were aware of the requirement to comply with the Accounts 
and Audit Regulations 2015.  As part of the process of assurance, best practice 
suggests that an annual review of the effectiveness of the Audit & Regulatory 
Committee be undertaken.  

Discussion took place on the vacancy for an independent member, amendments to 
the Terms of Reference and including an Auditor Panel explanatory note.

RESOLVED:

1. That the annual review of the effectiveness of the Audit and Regulatory 
Committee be approved.

2. That, when the Committee places have been filled and after the 
knowledge and skills assessment, consideration be given to whether 
additional amendments to the Audit and Regulatory Committee’s Terms of 
Reference are required.

20/18 MEMBERSHIP OF CONSTITUTION SUB-COMMITTEE
(Agenda Item 14)

Consideration was given to membership of the Constitution Sub-Committee, 
cross party working, conducting an on-going review of the Council’s 
Constitution and making recommendations to the Audit and Regulatory 
Committee.

RESOLVED: That rather than in accordance with political balance 
requirements the Constitution Sub-Committee membership be determined 
on availability, as and when meetings are required.

20/19 WORK PROGRAMME
(Agenda Item 15)

Consideration was given to the Committee work programme for 2019/20.  
 
RESOLVED:
 
That the Committee Work Programme be noted.

Page 6



Audit & Regulatory Committee
Wednesday, 24 July 2019

5

The meeting concluded at 7.48 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit Progress Report and Sector Update

High Peak Borough Council
Year ending 31 March 2020

23 October 2019

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 4



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. High Peak BC 2019-20 Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | October 2019

Confidential

Contents

Section Page

Introduction 03

Progress at 11 October 2019 04

Audit Deliverables 05

Sector Update 06

2

P
age 10



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. High Peak BC 2019-20 Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | October 2019

Confidential

This paper provides the Audit and Regulatory Committee with a report on 
progress in delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors. 
The paper also includes:

• a summary of emerging national issues and developments that may be relevant to you as a local authority; and

• includes a number of challenge questions in respect of these emerging issues which the Committee may wish to 
consider (these are a tool to use, if helpful, rather than formal questions requiring responses for audit purposes)

Members of the Audit and Regulatory Committee can find further useful material on our website, where we have a 
section dedicated to our work in the public sector. Here you can download copies of our publications 
www.grantthornton.co.uk.

If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to receive
regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or Engagement 
Manager./

Introduction

3

PSAA Contract Monitoring

High Peak Borough Council opted into the Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) Appointing Person scheme which started with the 2018/19 audit. PSAA appointed Grant Thornton as 
auditors. PSAA is responsible under the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 for monitoring compliance with the contract and is committed to ensuring good quality audit 
services are provided by its suppliers. Details of PSAA’s audit quality monitoring arrangements are available from its website, www.psaa.co.uk.

Our contract with PSAA contains a method statement which sets out the firm’s commitment to deliver quality audit services, our audit approach and what clients can expect from us. We 
have set out commitment to deliver a high quality audit service in the document at Appendix A. We hope this is helpful. It will also be a benchmark for you to provide feedback on our 
performance to PSAA via its survey in Autumn 2019.

Grant Patterson

Engagement Lead

T +44 121 232 5269
M +44 788 045 6114
E Grant.B.Patterson@uk.gt.com

Avtar Sohal

Senior Audit Manager

T +44 121 232 5420
M +44 782 511 2538
E Avtar.S.Sohal@uk.gt.com

P
age 11



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. High Peak BC 2019-20 Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | October 2019

Confidential

Progress at 11 October 2019

4

Other areas
Certification of claims and returns
We certify the Council’s annual Housing Benefit Subsidy claim 
in accordance with procedures agreed with the Department for 
Work and Pensions. The certification work for the 2018/19 is in 
progress and will be completed by the 30 November deadline.

We also certify the Council’s annual Pooled Capital Receipts 
Return in accordance with procedures agreed with the Ministry 
for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). 
The certification work for the 2018/19 return is not yet due to 
start but will be completed by the 31 January 2020 deadline. 

We will report our findings to the Audit and Regulatory 
Committee as part of our Progress Reports.

Meetings
We met with Finance Officers in September and October as 
part of our regular liaison meetings and continue to be in 
discussions with finance staff regarding emerging 
developments and to ensure the audit process is smooth and 
effective. We also met with your Chief Executive in October to 
discuss the Council’s strategic priorities and plans.

Events
We provide a range of workshops, along with network events 
and publications to support the Council. Your officers will be 
invited to our Financial Reporting Workshops in January and 
February 2020 to help ensure that they are up to date with the 
latest financial reporting requirements for local authority 
accounts.

Further details of the publications that may be of interest to the 
Council are set out in our Sector Update section of this report.

Financial Statements Audit
We issued our opinion on your 2018/19 
Statement of Accounts on 31 July 2019. We 
completed our work on the Council’s WGA 
consolidation return following guidance issued 
by the NAO and were able to certify 
completion of our 2018/19 audit on the same 
day.

We will begin our planning for the 2019/20 
audit in November and will issue a detailed 
audit plan, setting out our proposed approach 
to the audit of the Council's 2018/19 financial 
statements in February 2020.

We will begin our interim audit in December 
2019, with additional visits planned for late 
January 2020 and  March 2020. Our interim 
fieldwork includes:

• Updated review of the Council’s control 
environment

• Updated understanding of financial 
systems

• Review of Internal Audit reports on core 
financial systems

• Early work on emerging accounting issues

• Early substantive testing

We will report our work in the Audit Findings 
Report and aim to give our opinion on the 
Statement of Accounts by the statutory 
accounts publication date of 31 July 2020.

Value for Money
The scope of our work is set out in the guidance 
issued by the National Audit Office. The Code 
requires auditors to satisfy themselves that; "the 
Council has made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources".

The guidance confirmed the overall criterion as: 
"in all significant respects, the audited body had 
proper arrangements to ensure it took properly 
informed decisions and deployed resources to 
achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for 
taxpayers and local people".

The three sub criteria for assessment to be able 
to give a conclusion overall are:

• Informed decision making

• Sustainable resource deployment

• Working with partners and other third parties

Details of our initial risk assessment to 
determine our approach will be included in our 
Audit Plan. 

We will report our work in the Audit Findings 
Report and aim to give our Value For Money 
Conclusion by the statutory accounts 
publication date of 31 July 2020.

P
age 12



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. High Peak BC 2019-20 Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | October 2019

Confidential

Audit Deliverables

5

2018/19 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Audit Findings Report

The Audit Findings Report was reported to the July Audit and Regulatory Committee.

July 2019 Complete

Auditors Report

This is the opinion on your financial statement, annual governance statement and value for money conclusion.

July 2019 Complete

Annual Audit Letter

This letter communicates the key issues arising from our work.

August 2019 Complete

2019/20 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Fee Letter 

Confirming audit fee for 2018/19.

April 2019 Complete

Accounts Audit Plan

We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the Audit and Regulatory Committee setting out our 
proposed approach in order to give an opinion on the Council’s 2019-20 financial statements.

February 2020 Not yet due

Interim Audit Findings

We will report to you the findings from our interim audit and our initial value for money risk assessment within 
our Progress Report.

February and March 2020 Not yet due

Audit Findings Report

The Audit Findings Report will be reported to the July Audit and Regulatory Committee.

July 2020 Not yet due

Auditors Report

This is the opinion on your financial statement, annual governance statement and value for money conclusion.

July 2020 Not yet due

Annual Audit Letter

This letter communicates the key issues arising from our work.

August 2020 Not yet due

P
age 13



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. High Peak BC 2019-20 Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | October 2019

Confidential

Councils are tackling a continuing drive to 
achieve greater efficiency in the delivery of 
public services, whilst facing the challenges to 
address rising demand, ongoing budget 
pressures and social inequality.

Our sector update provides you with an up to date summary of emerging 
national issues and developments to support you. We cover areas which 
may have an impact on your organisation, the wider NHS and the public 
sector as a whole. Links are provided to the detailed report/briefing to 
allow you to delve further and find out more. 

Our public sector team at Grant Thornton also undertake research on 
service and technical issues. We will bring you the latest research 
publications in this update. We also include areas of potential interest to 
start conversations within the organisation and with audit committee 
members, as well as any accounting and regulatory updates. 

Sector Update

6

More information can be found on our dedicated public sector and local 
government sections on the Grant Thornton website by clicking on the logos 
below:

• Grant Thornton Publications

• Insights from local  government sector 
specialists

• Reports of interest

• Accounting and regulatory updates

Public Sector
Local 

government

P
age 14



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. High Peak BC 2019-20 Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | October 2019

Confidential

MHCLG – Independent probe into local 
government audit

In July, the then Communities secretary, James Brokenshire, 
announced the government is to examine local authority 
financial reporting and auditing.
At the CIPFA conference he told delegates the independent review will be headed up by Sir 
Tony Redmond, a former CIPFA president.

The government was “working towards improving its approach to local government oversight 
and support”, Brokenshire promised.

“A robust local audit system is absolutely pivotal to work on oversight, not just because it 
reinforces confidence in financial reporting but because it reinforces service delivery and, 
ultimately, our faith in local democracy,” he said.

“There are potentially far-reaching consequences when audits aren’t carried out properly and 
fail to detect significant problems.”

The review will look at the quality of local authority audits and whether they are highlighting 
when an organisation is in financial trouble early enough.

It will also look at whether the public has lost faith in auditors and whether the current audit 
arrangements for councils are still “fit for purpose”.

On the appointment of Redmond, CIPFA chief executive Rob Whiteman said: “Tony 
Redmond is uniquely placed to lead this vital review, which will be critical for determining 
future regulatory requirements.

“Local audit is crucial in providing assurance and accountability to the public, while helping to 
prevent financial and governance failure.”

He added: “This work will allow us to identify what is needed to make local audit as robust as 
possible, and how the audit function can meet the assurance needs, both now and in the 
future, of the sector as a whole.”

In the question and answer session following his speech, Brokenshire said he was not 
looking to bring back the Audit Commission, which appointed auditors to local bodies and 
was abolished in 2015. MHCLG note that auditing of local authorities was then taken over by 
the private, voluntary and not-for-profit sectors.

He explained he was “open minded”, but believed the Audit Commission was “of its time”.

Local authorities in England are responsible for 22% of total UK public sector expenditure so 
their accounts “must be of the highest level of transparency and quality”, the Ministry of 
Housing, Local Government and Communities said. The review will also look at how local 
authorities publish their annual accounts and if the financial reporting system is robust 
enough.

Redmond, who has also been a local authority treasurer and chief executive, is expected to 
report to the communities secretary with his initial recommendations in December 2019, with 
a final report published in March 2020. Redmond has also worked as a local government 
boundary commissioner and held the post of local government ombudsman.

7

P
age 15



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. High Peak BC 2019-20 Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | October 2019

Confidential

Public Accounts Committee – Local Government 
Governance and Accountability
The Public Accounts Committee has found that the 
Government has not done enough to ensure that, at a time 
when local authority budgets are under extreme pressure, 
governance systems are improved.
The Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (the Department) is responsible 
for: ensuring that this framework contains the right checks and balances, and changing the 
system if necessary. The Secretary of State also has powers to intervene in cases of 
perceived governance failure. The framework includes: officers with statutory powers and 
responsibilities; internal checks and balances such as audit committees and internal audit; 
and external checks and balances such as external audit and sector-led improvement 
overseen by the Local Government Association. These arrangements represent a significant 
reduction in the level of central oversight in recent years following the government’s decision 
to abolish the Audit Commission and the Standards Board for England as part of a broader 
reform of local audit, inspection and reporting.

The Public Accounts Committee report summary notes “Local authorities have a good 
overall track record with governance arrangements generally robust across the sector, and 
there is evidence that local authority governance compares favourably to that of the health 
sector. However, this is not universal and in some authorities governance is under strain, as 
funding reduces and responsibilities and exposure to commercial pressures change. We are 
worried to hear about audit committees that do not provide sufficient assurance, ineffective 
internal audit, weak arrangements for the management of risk in local authorities’ 
commercial investments, and inadequate oversight and scrutiny. This is not acceptable in 
the more risky, complex and fast-moving environment in which local authorities now operate.

The Department has been reactive and ill-informed in its approach to oversight of the local 
governance system. However, the Department has now recognised that the network of 
bodies with responsibility for the local governance framework is fragmented and lacking the 
leadership needed to drive change. Encouragingly, the Department has now committed to 
enhancing its oversight role and producing a proactive work programme to deliver this 
change. We urge the Department to ensure that this activity leads to concrete actions and 
outcomes on a timely basis. When a local authority fails this has a significant impact on local 
people and the Department has a responsibility to work with local government to ensure that 
problems are caught early and that it can pinpoint at-risk councils. Since the abolition of the 
Audit Commission and other changes culminating in the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 there is no central assessment of value for the money, which means the Department’s 
work is fundamental.”

The report makes five conclusions, with associated recommendations:

1) The Department is not yet providing effective leadership of the local governance system. 

2) The Department does not know why some local authorities are raising concerns that 
external audit is not meeting their needs.

3) The Department lacks reliable information on key governance risks, or relies on weak 
sources of information, meaning it has no way of pinpointing the at-risk councils.

4) The Department’s monitoring is not focused on long-term risks to council finances and 
therefore to services.

5) There is a complete lack of transparency over both the Department’s informal 
interventions in local authorities with financial or governance problems and the results of 
its formal interventions.

The Government response is available on the website below:

https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-committees/public-accounts/Gov-response-
to-Public-Accounts-on-the-93-98-reports.pdf

8

P
age 16



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. High Peak BC 2019-20 Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | October 2019

Confidential

CIPFA – CFO confidence survey

In July, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) reported the results of their annual 
confidence survey.
The survey found that the majority of local government finance officers have lost confidence 
in their future financial positions over the last year.

Seventy per cent of respondents said they were either slightly less or much less confident in 
their financial position this year compared to 2018-19.

The survey also found that 68% said they were either slightly less or much less confident in 
their ability to deliver services in 2020-21. Sixty-two per cent expressed equal confidence in 
their financial position for 2019-20 as they had last year. 

CIPFA found that the area of greatest pressure for top tier authorities was children’s social 
care, with the number of authorities rating it as the biggest pressure rising by six percentage 
points.

For districts the greatest pressures were housing, cultural services and environmental 
services.

Rob Whiteman, CIPFA chief executive, said: “Local government is facing greater demand 
pressures than ever before, with particularly pressures in adults’ and children’s social care 
and housing. Local authorities also lack certainty about their future financial positions, so it’s 
unsurprising to see confidence on the decline.

“We have repeatedly pointed out that local government is in need of a sustainable funding 
solution, but meeting this demand requires more than pennies and pounds. The sector as a 
whole must come together to address the challenges of effective service delivery.”

CIPFA’s survey received a total of 119 responses from authorities in the UK - 56 top tier 
authorities, 47 English districts, 12 Scottish authorities, and 4 Welsh authorities.

On the same theme, a Local Government Association (LGA) survey, also reported in July, 
found that almost two-thirds of councils believe cash for services like adult social care, child 
protection and preventing homelessness will dry up by 2024-25. 

The survey got responses from 141 of the 339 LGA member councils in England and Wales.

It also found that 17% of councils were not confident of realising all of the savings they 
had identified this year (2019-20).

The LGA said that councils needed a guarantee they will have enough money to meet 
growing demand pressures in particular in adult social care, children’s services, special 
educational needs, homelessness support and public health.

9

Financial confidence
Challenge question: 

How confident over its’ financial position is your Authority?   Has this 
changed from previous years?                                            

P
age 17



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. High Peak BC 2019-20 Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | October 2019

Confidential

CIPFA/LASAAC Discussion Papers

In October, following on from its consultation on the 2020/21 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting, the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) published two further discussion papers.
The two discussion papers have been developed to indicate areas where CIPFA/LASAAC 
would appreciate further dialogue, where this is possible and additional to comments already 
received.

In order to maximise impact and minimise the resources required for responding, 
representative societies and groups are invited to collaborate to provide collective feedback 
for their group or society, rather than each individual member providing a response.

The papers relate to:

1) The future strategy for the development of the Code of Practice.

2) The potential for differential reporting requirements to be implemented to recognise 
differences between authorities, for instance due to scale, nature or type of authority.

A summary overview of the discussion papers, which can be used as a basis for discussion 
or presentation, is also provided in case this is of assistance.

Link: https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/technical-panels-and-boards/cipfa-lasaac-
local-authority-code-board/ifrsbased-code-of-practice-on-local-authority-accounting-in-the-
united-kingdom-the-code

Acknowledging that time is restricted for all parties, and with an awareness of the desire from 
stakeholders to progress, any initial feedback on the discussion papers would be welcome, 
preferably by 4 November 2019.

10

Financial reporting
Challenge question: 

Does the Council wish to respond to the consultation individually or 
collectively and, if so, are arrangements in place?

P
age 18



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. High Peak BC 2019-20 Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | October 2019

Confidential

National Audit Office – Code of Audit Practice

The Code of Audit Practice sets out what local auditors of 
relevant local public bodies are required to do to fulfill their 
statutory responsibilities under the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. ‘Relevant authorities’ are set out in 
Schedule 2 of the Act and include local councils, fire 
authorities, police and NHS bodies.  

Local auditors must comply with the Code of Audit Practice.

Consultation – New Code of Audit Practice from 2020
Schedule 6 of the Act requires that the Code be reviewed, and revisions considered at least 
every five years. The current Code came into force on 1 April 2015, and the maximum five-
year lifespan of the Code means it now needs to be reviewed and a new Code laid in 
Parliament in time for it to come in to force no later than 1 April 2020.

In order to determine what changes might be appropriate, the NAO is consulting on potential 
changes to the Code in two stages:

Stage 1 involves engagement with key stakeholders and public consultation on the issues 
that are considered to be relevant to the development of the Code.

This stage of the consultation is now closed. The NAO received a total of 41 responses 
to the consultation which included positive feedback on the two-stage approach to 
developing the Code that has been adopted. The NAO state that they have considered 
carefully the views of respondents in respect of the points drawn out from the Issues paper
and this will inform the development of the draft Code. A summary of the responses received 
to the questions set out in the Issues paper can be found below. 

Local audit in England Code of Audit Practice – Consultation Response (pdf – 256KB)

Stage 2 of the consultation involves consulting on the draft text of the new Code. To support 
stage 2, the NAO has published a consultation document, which highlights the key changes 
to each chapter of the draft Code. The most significant changes are in relation to the Value 
for Money arrangements. Rather than require auditors to focus on delivering an overall, 
binary, conclusion about whether or not proper arrangements were in place during the 
previous financial year, the draft Code requires auditors to issue a commentary on each of 
the criteria. This will allow auditors to tailor their commentaries to local circumstances. The 
Code proposes three specific criteria:

a) Financial sustainability: how the body plans and manages its resources to ensure it can 
continue to deliver its services;

b) Governance: how the body ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly 
manages its risks; and

c) Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the body uses information about 
its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services.

The consultation document and a copy of the draft Code can be found on the NAO website. 
The consultation is open until 22 November 2019. The new Code will apply from audits of 
local bodies’ 2020-21 financial statements onwards.

Link to NAO webpage for the Code consultation:

https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/code-of-audit-practice-consultation/

11

Financial confidence
Challenge question: 

Does the Council wish to respond to the 
consultation on the text of the Code and, if so, 
are arrangements in place?                                           

P
age 19



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. High Peak BC 2019-20 Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | October 2019

Confidential

Local Government Association – Profit with a 
purpose – delivering social value through 
commercial activity

The Local Government Association (LGA) report 'Profit with a 
purpose' focuses on some of the practicalities of how councils 
can deliver social value through their commercial activity.
Through ‘key questions’ to ask, the guidance supports councils to face the challenge of how 
to undertake commercial activity and achieve greater value for the public purse in ways that 
better meet society’s needs and outcomes for people and communities.

In addition, the publication features a number of short case studies highlighting some of the 
innovative commercial practice already achieving results for communities.

The LGA comments that the best approaches ensure the generation of social value is the 
primary factor driving commercial activity; from the initial decision to develop a commercial 
vision to how the approach is developed, and implemented, councils which are pulling ahead 
ensure social value is placed centre stage. 

The guidance starts with an overview of what the LGA understands by ‘profit with a purpose’, 
the guidance explores different types of social value and the role of councils in driving social 
value alongside their commercial ambition. 

The guidance then looks at how consideration and delivery of social value should be 
practically considered when deciding on whether to embark on commercial activity, the need 
for social value to be prioritised alongside financial return and the key questions councils 
should consider when embarking on a commercial initiative. 

Following on from this, there are specific chapters on; embedding social value in governance 
of alternative service delivery vehicles, the role of procurement in contracting services that 
deliver social value and finally how to contract and performance manage social value 
through your service providers. 

Each chapter outlines the factors that need to be considered and the ‘key questions’ councils 
should be asking themselves. 

In addition, a number of short case studies are provided to highlight some of the innovative 
commercial practice already achieving results for communities.

The report can be downloaded from the LGA website:

https://www.local.gov.uk/profit-purpose-delivering-social-value-through-commercial-activity

12

Profit with a purpose 
Challenge question: 

If your Authority is looking at commercial 
activity, have you considered the LGA 
report?

P
age 20



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. High Peak BC 2019-20 Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | October 2019

Confidential

MHCLG – Brexit preparations

Councils should be fully prepared to leave the European 
Union by the end of October, the Communities and Local 
Government Secretary announced on 3 August as he ramped 
up preparations.

Mr Jenrick thanked councils for all the work they have already done, but said they must step 
up vital preparations and committed £20 million for councils across England to prepare for 
delivering Brexit on 31 October, whatever the circumstances.

He has asked each council to designate a Brexit lead to work with central government and 
oversee teams in every community who will work with stakeholders in their area to plan 
intensively for Brexit.

The new funding comes in recognition of the central role councils will play to make sure their 
residents are ready for Brexit, and is expected to support a range of activity including 
communications, training and the recruitment of staff.

The Secretary of State said: 

“From Whitehall to town halls – everyone needs to be ready to fulfil our democratic mandate 
to leave the European Union by the end of October. 

Local government has a vital role in helping to make Brexit a success and it is absolutely 
right that together we intensify preparations in every community.

And to do this successfully I have asked every council to appoint a Brexit lead to work with 
government. We’ll be providing £20 million for councils to support the major step up in 
preparations.

I want all of us – central and local government – to be fully prepared for leaving the EU on 31 
October whatever the circumstances. I know that we can achieve this, by continuing to work 
side by side with renewed national focus and intensity.”

13

Brexit preparations
Challenge question: 

Who is your Brexit lead and how is your authority supporting Brexit 
preparations?

P
age 21



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, 
as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each 
member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 
obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. This proposal is made by Grant Thornton UK LLP and is in all respects subject to the negotiation, agreement 
and signing of a specific contract/letter of engagement. The client names quoted within this proposal are disclosed on a confidential basis. All information in this proposal is released strictly 
for the purpose of this process and must not be disclosed to any other parties without express consent from Grant Thornton UK LLP. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 22



The Annual Audit Letter

for High Peak Borough Council

Year ended 31 March 2019

27 August 2019

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 5



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  HPBC 2018-19 Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2019 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive Summary 3

2. Audit of the Financial Statements 5

3. Value for Money conclusion 10

Appendices

A     Reports issued and fees                                                                                 11

Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

Grant Patterson 

Engagement Lead

T:  0121 232 5296

E: grant.b.Patterson@uk.gt.com

Avtar Sohal

Senior Audit Manager

T: 0121 232 5420

E: avtar.sohal@uk.gt.com

Lisa Morrey

Audit in-charge

T: 0121 232 5302

E: lisa.morrey@uk.gt.com

P
age 24



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  HPBC 2018-19 Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2019 3

Executive Summary
Purpose

Our Annual Audit Letter (Letter) summarises the key findings arising from the 

work that we have carried out at High Peak Borough Council (the ‘Council’) 

for the year ended 31 March 2019.  

This Letter is intended to provide a commentary on the results of our work to 

the Council and external stakeholders, and to highlight issues that we wish to 

draw to the attention of the public. In preparing this Letter, we have followed 

the National Audit Office (NAO)'s Code of Audit Practice and Auditor 

Guidance Note (AGN) 07 – 'Auditor Reporting'. We reported the detailed 

findings from our audit work to the Council's Audit and Regulatory Committee 

as those charged with governance in our Audit Findings Report (AFR) on 24 

July 2019.

Respective responsibilities

We have carried out our audit in accordance with the NAO's Code of Audit Practice, 

which reflects the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 

Act). Our key responsibilities are to:

• give an opinion on the Council’s financial statements (section two)

• assess the Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources (the value for money conclusion) (section 

three).

In our audit of the Council financial statements, we comply with International 

Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs) and other guidance issued by the NAO.

Materiality We determined materiality for the audit of the Council's financial statements to be £950,000, which is 1.9% of the Council's gross 

revenue expenditure. 

Financial Statements opinion We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council's financial statements on 31 July 2019.

Whole of Government Accounts 

(WGA)

We completed work on the Council’s consolidation return following guidance issued by the NAO.

Use of statutory powers We did not identify any matters which required us to exercise our additional statutory powers.

Value for Money arrangements We were satisfied that the Council put in place proper arrangements to ensure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources. We reflected this in our AFR to the Audit and Regulatory Committee on 24 July 2019 and our unqualified value for money 

conclusion issued on 31 July 2019.

Certification of Grants We completed work on the Council’s 2017-18 Housing Benefit (HB) Subsidy Claim on behalf of the Department for Work and 

Pensions. We also carried out work to certify the Council’s 2017-18 Pooling of Housing Capital Receipts return as an audit related 

non-audit service. There were no matters to report in respect of the Council’s (HB) Subsidy Claim but we did note one exception in 

respect of the pooled capital receipts return (page 8).

Our work on the 2018-19 subsidy claim is not yet complete and will be finalised by 30 November 2019. We have not yet started work 

on the 2018-19 pooled capital receipts return which has a 31 January 2020 deadline.

Certificate We certified that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of High Peak Borough Council in accordance with the

requirements of the Code of Audit Practice on 31 July 2019. 

Our workP
age 25



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  HPBC 2018-19 Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2019 4

Executive Summary

Working with the Council

We have worked for the Council for a number of years and they continues to 

deliver us robust draft financial statements. Our good working relations with 

the Council mean that we are able to deliver:

• An efficient financial statement audit – we delivered an efficient audit with 

you in July, delivering the financial statements to the required deadline of 

31 July 2019.

• Understanding your operational health – through the value for money 

conclusion we provided you with assurance on your operational 

effectiveness.

• Sharing our insight – we provided regular audit committee updates 

covering best practice. We also shared our thought leadership reports

• Providing training – we provided your teams with training on financial 

statements and annual reporting

We would like to record our appreciation for the assistance and co-operation

provided to us during our audit by the Council's staff.

Grant Thornton UK LLP

August 2019

P
age 26



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  HPBC 2018-19 Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2019 5

Audit of the Financial Statements

Our audit approach

Materiality

In our audit of the Council's financial statements, we use the concept of 

materiality to determine the nature, timing and extent of our work, and in 

evaluating the results of our work. We define materiality as the size of the 

misstatement in the financial statements that would lead a reasonably 

knowledgeable person to change or influence their economic decisions. 

We determined materiality for the audit of the Council’s financial statements 

to be £995,000, which is 1.9% of the Council’s gross revenue expenditure. 

We used this benchmark as, in our view, users of the Council's financial 

statements are most interested in where the Council has spent its revenue in 

the year. 

We also set a lower level of specific materiality for Senior Officer 

Remuneration as this is seen as a particular sensitive area of the financial 

statements of £25,000

We set a lower threshold of £47,500, above which we reported errors to the 

Audit and Accounts Committee in our Audit Findings Report.

The scope of our audit

Our audit involves obtaining sufficient evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the financial statements to give reasonable assurance that they are free from material 

misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes assessing whether:

• the accounting policies are appropriate, have been consistently applied and 

adequately disclosed; 

• the significant accounting estimates made by management are reasonable; and

• the overall presentation of the financial statements gives a true and fair view. 

We also read the remainder of the financial statements and the narrative report, 

annual governance statement to check it is consistent with our understanding of the 

Council and with the financial statements included in the Annual Report on which we 

gave our opinion.

We carry out our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK) and the NAO Code of Audit 

Practice. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Council’s business 

and is risk based. 

We identified key risks and set out overleaf the work we performed in response to 

these risks and the results of this work.

P
age 27



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  HPBC 2018-19 Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2019 6

Audit of the Financial Statements

Significant Audit Risks 
These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and 

conclusions

The revenue cycle includes fraudulent 

transactions

Under ISA (UK) 240 – the Auditor’s 

Responsibility to Consider Fraud in an Audit of 

Financial Statements - there is a rebuttable 

presumed risk that revenue may be misstated 

due to the improper recognition of revenue. 

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor 

concludes that there is no risk of material 

misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue 

recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the revenue 

streams at the Council we determined that the risk of fraud arising from revenue 

recognition could be rebutted, because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including High Peak 

Borough Council, mean that all forms of fraud are seen as unacceptable.

We have not altered our 

assessment as reported in 

the audit plan and, whilst not 

a significant risk, as part of 

our audit work we did 

undertake work on material 

revenue items. Our work did 

not identify any matters that 

would indicate our rebuttal 

was incorrect. We therefore 

have no issues to report in 

this regard

ISA 240: Management override of controls 

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable 

presumed risk that the risk of management 

over-ride of controls is present in all entities.

The Council faces external scrutiny of its 

spending and this could potentially place 

management under undue pressure in terms 

of how they report performance.

We therefore identified management override 

of control, in particular journals, management 

estimates and transactions outside the course 

of business as one of the most significant 

assessed risks of material misstatement

As part of our audit work we completed;

• evaluated the design effectiveness of management controls over journals

• analysed the journals listing and determined the criteria for selecting high risk 

unusual journals 

• tested unusual journals recorded during the year and after the draft accounts 

stage for appropriateness

• gained an understanding of the accounting estimates and critical  judgements 

made by management and consider their reasonableness with regard to 

corroborative evidence

• evaluated the rationale for any changes in accounting policies, estimates or 

significant unusual transactions.

Our audit work has not

identified any issues in 

respect of management 

override of controls.

P
age 28



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  HPBC 2018-19 Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2019 7

Audit of the Financial Statements

Significant Audit Risks - continued. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Valuation of land and buildings

The Council revalues its land and 

buildings at least once every five 

years. Investment properties are 

revalued every year. 

This valuation of property, plant and 

equipment (PPE) represents a 

significant estimate by management 

in the financial statements due to the 

size of the numbers involved 

(£234m)  and the sensitivity of this 

estimate to changes in key 

assumptions.

We therefore identified valuation of 

land and buildings as a significant 

risk.

As part of our audit work we have:

• evaluated management's processes and assumptions for

the calculation of the estimate, the instructions issued to

valuation experts and the scope of their work

• evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of

the valuation expert

• written to the valuer to confirm the basis on which the

valuation was carried out to ensure that the requirements

of the Code are met

• challenged the information and assumptions used by the

valuer to assess completeness and consistency with our

understanding

• tested, on a sample basis, revaluations made during the

year to see if they had been input correctly into the

Council's asset register, and

• evaluated and challenged the assumptions made by

management for those assets not revalued during the

year and how management have satisfied themselves

that these are not materially different to current value.

The Council owns 3,964 dwellings and is required to revalue 

these properties in accordance with DCLG’s Stock Valuation for 

Resource Accounting guidance. The guidance requires the use 

of beacon methodology, in which a detailed valuation of 

representative property types is then applied to similar 

properties. The Council engaged an external valuer to complete 

the valuation of these properties. The year end valuation of 

Council Housing was £171.2m, a net increase £4.1m from 

2017/18 (£167.1m).

Land and buildings which are not specialised in nature and are 

required to be valued at existing use in value (EUV) at year end. 

The Council engaged the same external valuer to complete the 

valuation of properties as at 31 March 2019 on a five yearly 

cyclical basis. Out of an asset base value of £49m, £38m of the 

assets have been valued as at 31 March 2019. Management 

have considered the year end value of non-valued properties to 

determine whether there has been a material change in the total 

value of these properties. Management’s assessment of assets 

not revalued has identified no material change to the properties 

value. The total year end valuation of Other land and buildings 

was £48.5m, a net increase of £4.4m from 2017/18 (£44.1m).

The remaining assets of £14.2m (PY £14.5m) are either valued 

at historic cost or use historic cost as a proxy for current value 

(vehicles and plant).

From the procedures carried out we are satisfied that the 

valuation of land and building in the financial statements is not 

materially misstated. We have no other points to report in 

relation to the valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment. 

P
age 29



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  HPBC 2018-19 Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2019 8

Audit of the Financial Statements
Significant Audit Risks - continued

Risks identified in our 

audit plan

How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

The Council's pension 

fund net liability, as 

reflected in its balance 

sheet as the net defined 

benefit liability, 

represents a significant 

estimate in the financial 

statements. 

The pension fund net 

liability is considered a 

significant estimate due 

to the size of the 

numbers involved 

(£51million in the 

Council’s balance sheet) 

and the sensitivity of the 

estimate to changes in 

key assumptions.

We therefore identified 

valuation of the Council’s 

pension fund net liability 

as a significant risk.

We have:

 updated our understanding of the processes and controls 

put in place by management to ensure that the Council’s 

net pension fund liability is not materially misstated and 

evaluate the design of the associated controls;

 evaluated the instructions issued by management  to their 

management expert (an actuary) for this estimate and the 

scope of the actuary’s work;

 assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity of 

the actuary who carried out the Council’s pension fund 

valuation; 

 assessed the accuracy and completeness of the 

information provided by the Council to the actuary to 

estimate the liability;

 tested the consistency of the pension fund asset and 

liability and disclosures in the notes to the core financial 

statements with the actuarial report from the actuary;

 undertaken procedures to confirm the reasonableness of 

the actuarial assumptions made by reviewing the report of 

the consulting actuary (as auditor’s expert) and performing 

any additional procedures suggested within the report; and

 sought assurances from the auditor of the Derbyshire 

Pension Fund as to the controls surrounding the validity 

and accuracy of membership data; contributions data and 

benefits data sent to the actuary by the pension fund and 

the fund assets valuation in the pension fund financial 

statements.

Our audit identified one issue in relation to accounting for the impact of 

the McCloud Court of Appeal judgement. The Court of Appeal has ruled 

that there was age discrimination in the judges and firefighters pension 

schemes where transitional protections were given to scheme 

members. The legal ruling has implications not just for pension funds, 

but also for other pension schemes where they have implemented 

transitional arrangements on changing benefits, such as the Local 

Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). Our Grant Thornton view was 

that the McCloud judgement gave rise to a past service cost and liability 

which should be recognised as the ruling created a new obligation.

As a result of the ruling we have worked with the Council to consider 

the implications of the judgement. As a result the Council have 

undertaken a further actuarial assessment to include the impact of the 

judgment alongside changes to the Guaranteed Minimum Pension and 

updated investment valuations. 

The Council also identified that amendments to the financial statements 

were required to reflect the impact of staff who transferred back to the 

Council in 2017/18. This resulted in a prior period adjustment.

Overall, the revised actuarial assessment saw an increase in pension 

net liability of £1.9m, with the liability rising from £49m to £50.9m.

Our audit procedures have confirmed that the pension liability is not 

materially misstated in the financial statements after these adjustments

We also made a recommendation that the Council should review the 

data Derbyshire Pension Fund send to the actuary prior to submission 

to the actuary. The Council have agreed to implement this 

recommendation.

P
age 30



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  HPBC 2018-19 Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2019 9

Audit of the Financial Statements

Audit opinion
We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council's financial statements on 31 

July 2019.

Preparation of the financial statements

The Council presented us with draft financial statements in accordance with 

the national deadline, and provided a good set of working papers to support 

them. The finance team responded promptly and efficiently to our queries 

during the course of the audit. 

Issues arising from the audit of the financial statements

We reported the key issues from our audit to the Council ‘s Audit and 

Regulatory Committee on 24 July 2019. 

Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report

We are required to review the Council’s Annual Governance Statement and 

Narrative Report. It published them on its website in the Statement of 

Accounts in line with the national deadlines. 

Both documents were prepared in line with the CIPFA Code and relevant 

supporting guidance. We confirmed that both documents were consistent 

with  the financial statements prepared by the Council and with our 

knowledge of the Council. 

Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) 

We carried out work on the Council’s Data Collection Tool in line with 

instructions provided by the NAO . We issued an assurance did not identify 

any issues for the group auditor to consider on 31 July 2019

Certificate of closure of the audit

We certified that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of 

High Peak Borough Council in accordance with the requirements of the Code 

of Audit Practice 31 July 2019.

Certification of Grants

Since our last Annual Audit Letter we have certified the Council’s 2017-18 

Housing Benefit Subsidy claim and the 2017-18 Pooling of housing Capital 

receipts return. 

We also carry our work to certify the Council’s 2018-19 Housing Benefit Subsidy 

claim on behalf of the Department for Work and pensions (DWP) and 2018-19 

Pooling of housing Capital receipts return for Ministry of Housing, Communities 

and Local Government (MHCLG). Our work on this claim is not yet complete and 

will be finalised by 30 November 2019. Our work on the 2018-19 subsidy claim is 

not yet complete and will be finalised by 30 November 2019. We have not yet 

started work on the 2018-19 pooled capital receipts return which has a 31 January 

2020 deadline.

We will report the results of this work to the Audit and Regulatory Committee. 

2017-18 Housing Benefit subsidy claim 

We certified the Council’s Housing Benefit Subsidy Claim for the financial year 

2017-18 relating to subsidy claimed of £19.9m. The results of our testing did not 

identify any errors or extended testing, as such we were able to certify the original 

claim to DWP without either amendment or qualification on 12 November 2018. 

We confirmed this to the Council’s Audit and Regulatory Committee, as those 

charged with governance, in our Certification Letter dated 23 January 2019.

Certification of 2017-18 pooled housing capital receipts grant

As noted in Appendix A we provided non-audit services in respect of certifying the 

Council’s Pooling of Housing Capital Receipts return. There was one exception in 

respect of the omission from the return of one repayment of £17,296 of a right to 

buy discount that we were required to report to the MHCLG in our agreed upon 

procedures report dated 31 January 2019.

P
age 31



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  HPBC 2018-19 Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2019 10

Value for Money conclusion

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to 

the risk

Findings

Medium Term Financial Sustainability

In respect of the medium term financial outlook 

the Council’s MTFP was agreed in February 

2018 when setting the budget for the current 

financial year. The Plan identified a £1.8m 

budget shortfall over a three year period on the 

general fund (2018/19 – 2020/21) – with 

£0.31million savings achieved in 2017/18. There 

was also an assumed overall use of £1.96 

million in in reserves in order to balance the 

MTFP. 

Achieving a balanced budget over the medium-

term relies upon delivery of the Council's 

approved efficiency & rationalisation strategy. 

Current progression against the efficiency 

programme is positive, with the 2017/18 target 

achieved and at Quarter 2 the General Fund 

efficiency target of £581k for 2018/19 was 

expected to be achieved – with £346k already 

achieved. The HRA 2018/19 efficiency target of 

£245k has already been achieved. There 

remained risks within delivery of the efficiency 

programme and in response to this risk we 

determined to assess whether the Council was:

• planning its finances effectively to support 

the sustainable delivery of strategic priorities 

and maintain statutory functions including 

how you are progressing against the 

efficiency & rationalisation strategy.

We  undertook the 

following procedures to 

address this VfM risk:

• reviewed the 

Council’s 

arrangements for 

identifying and 

agreeing savings 

plans to ensure that 

the Council is resilient 

to the increasing 

financial challenges 

of coming years.

• reviewed the outturn 

for 2018/19 and the 

updated MTFS and 

gain a better 

understanding of the 

financial settlement 

impact, how the 

council plans to 

respond to it and also 

how the Council plans 

to remain financially 

sustainable in the 

medium to long term.

• The Council have achieved an £1.5m favourable outturn against budget in 2018/19, as a result of actual spend on 

activities being £0.7m lower than anticipated and funding levels of £0.8m being higher than expected. Per the budget 

the Council required a £1.8m call on reserves, however, given the favourable outturn position the Council has now only 

drawn down £0.2m from its useable reserves. As a result the Council holds £2.85m in its general revenue reserve.

• In February 2019 the Council produced a Medium Term Financial Plan which looked at the period from 2019/20 to 

2022/23. With effect from 2019/20 there will be a requirement of a £0.47m contribution to reserves over the 4 year 

period. The plan anticipates that it will have contingency reserve of £3m in place and will have £1.8m headroom and 

their will be a balanced budgets, however, this is predicated on the delivery of Efficiency & Rationalisation Strategy.

• The programme identified £2.1m of required savings over the period of 2020/21. In 2017/18 the Council overachieved 

on their target of £310,000 of savings, delivering £78,000 of additional savings in year. However, in 2018/19 the 

Council have achieved £449,000 savings compared to a target of £581,000, which has resulted an under delivery of 

£132,000 due to slippage in the profile savings assumed in the programme.

• As a result the Council have now reviewed their programme and have amended their saving profile to achieve

• £780,00 of savings in 2019/20 compared to an original programme value of £430,000

• £505,000 of savings in 2020/21 compared to an original programme value of £810,000

• We have discussed with the Council on how they are to deliver the required savings as required by the efficiency 

programme, and their response is that these savings required continued progression in making savings from their 

alternate delivery model for Waste, Streets and Parks via transfer of services to trading company Alliance Environment 

Services (AES) and how they provide leisure services.

• The Council have demonstrated that AES is making the required savings it anticipated and that the changes in the 

provision of leisure services are resulting in required savings.

Like most of local government, the authority faces a challenging future driven by funding reductions and an increase in 

demand for services. This is further complicated by the uncertainty relating to the future of financing of local government, 

particularly business rate reform and the fair funding review.

The Council’s financial stability going forward is highly dependent on the factors above. The Council will need to monitor 

decisions from the Government with regard to funding and respond accordingly. As well as responding to any Government 

decisions it also needs to ensure that it makes appropriate decisions with regard to its own income generation schemes 

and savings plans are delivered in full.

Background
We carried out our review in accordance with the NAO Code of Audit Practice, following the guidance issued by the NAO in November 2017 which specified the criterion for auditors to evaluate:

• In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.

Key findings
Our first step in carrying out our work was to perform a risk assessment and identify the risks where we concentrated our work. The risks we identified and the work we performed are set out below. From 
the work carried out we  did not identify any material weaknesses.

Overall Value for Money conclusion
We are satisfied that in all significant respects the Council put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 2019.

P
age 32



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  HPBC 2018-19 Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2019 11

A. Reports issued and fees
We confirm below our final reports issued and fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services.

Fees

Planned

£

Actual fees 

£

2017/18 fees

£

Statutory audit 36,400 40,900 47,273

Total fees 36,400 40,900 47,273

Reports issued

Report Date issued

Audit Plan February 2019

Audit Findings Report July 2019

Annual Audit Letter August 2019

Audit fee variation

As outlined in our audit plan, the 2018-19 scale fee published by PSAA of £36,400 

assumes that the scope of the audit does not significantly change.  There are a number 

of areas where the scope of the audit has changed, which has led to additional work.  

These are set out in the following table.

Area Reason Fee 

proposed 

Assessing the 

impact of the 

McCloud ruling 

The Government’s transitional arrangements for 

pensions were ruled discriminatory by the Court of 

Appeal last December. The Supreme Court refused 

the Government’s application for permission to 

appeal this ruling.  As part of our audit we have 

reviewed the revised actuarial assessment of the 

impact on the financial statements along with any 

audit reporting requirements.

£3,000

Pensions – Prior 

Period 

Restatement

As a result of a change to the structure of the 

Authority and the actuarial impact of revised 

pension calculations to include AES employees 

who transferred back to the Council  has given rise 

for a restatement in the 2017/18 primary financial 

statement. As a result the audit team have had to 

undertake additional procedures to ensure that prior 

period restatement is correct and agreed to 

supporting documentation

£1,500

Total £4,500

The revised fee for the year is subject to approval by Public Sector Appointments Ltd 

(PSAA) but it should be noted that £40,900 would still represent a 13.5% statutory 
audit fee reduction on the prior year.

Fees for non-audit services

Service Fees £

Audit related services 

- Certification of Housing Benefit Subsidy claim 2018/19

- Certification of Housing capital receipts grant 2018/19

£12,000

Non-Audit related services

- CFO Insights

- Place Analytics

£11,250 

Non- audit services

• For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK 

LLP teams providing services to the Council. The table above summarises all 

non-audit services which were identified.

• We have considered whether non-audit services might be perceived as a threat to 

our independence as the Council’s auditor and have ensured that appropriate 

safeguards are put in place. 

The above non-audit services are consistent with the Council’s policy on the 

allotment of non-audit work to your auditor.

P
age 33



Our connections
 We are well connected to MHCLG, the 

NAO and key local government networks

 We work with CIPFA, Think Tanks and 
legal firms to develop workshops and good 
practice

 We have a strong presence across all parts 
of local government including blue light 
services

 We provide thought leadership, seminars 
and training to support our clients and to 
provide solutions

Our people
 We have over 25 engagement leads 

accredited by ICAEW, and over 
250 public sector specialists

 We provide technical and personal 
development training

 We employ over 80 Public Sector trainee 
accountants

The Local Government economy 

Local authorities face unprecedented challenges including:

- Financial Sustainability – addressing funding gaps and balancing needs against resources

- Service Sustainability – Adult Social Care funding gaps and pressure on Education, Housing, 

Transport

- Transformation – new models of delivery, greater emphasis on partnerships, more focus on 

economic development

- Technology – cyber security and risk management

At a wider level, the political environment remains complex:

- The government continues its negotiation with the EU over Brexit, and future arrangements 

remain uncertain.

- We will consider your arrangements for managing and reporting your financial resources as part 

of our work in reaching our Value for Money conclusion.

- We will keep you informed of changes to the financial  reporting requirements for 2018/19 

through on-going discussions and invitations to our technical update workshops.

New 
opportunities 
and challenges 
for your 
community

Our quality
 Our audit approach complies with the 

NAO's Code of Audit Practice, and 
International Standards on Auditing

 We are fully compliant with ethical 
standards

 Your audit team has passed all quality 
inspections including QAD and AQRT

Grant Thornton in Local 
Government

 We work closely with our clients to ensure that we understand their financial challenges, 

performance and future strategy.

 We deliver robust, pragmatic and timely financial statements and Value for Money audits

 We have an open, two way dialogue with clients that support improvements in arrangements 

and the audit process

 Feedback meetings tell us that our clients are pleased with the service we deliver. We are not 

complacent and will continue to improve further

 Our locally based, experienced teams have a commitment to both our clients and the wider 

public sector

 We are a Firm that specialises in Local Government, Health and Social Care, and Cross Sector 

working, with over 25 Key Audit Partners, the most public sector specialist Engagement Leads 

of any firm

 We have strong relationships with CIPFA, SOLCAE, the Society of Treasurers, the Association 

of Directors of Adult Social Care and others. 

Our relationship 
with our 
clients– why are 
we best placed?

 Early advice on technical accounting  issues, providing certainty of accounting treatments, future 

financial planning implications and resulting in draft statements that are 'right first time’

 Knowledge and expertise in all matters local government, including local objections and 

challenge, where we have an unrivalled depth of expertise. 

 Early engagement on issues, especially on ADMs, housing delivery changes, Children services 

and Adult Social Care restructuring, partnership working with the NHS, inter authority 

agreements, governance and financial reporting

 Implementation of our recommendations have resulted in demonstrable improvements in your 

underlying arrangements, for example accounting for unique assets, financial management, 

reporting and governance, and tax implications for the Cornwall Council companies 

 Robust but pragmatic challenge – seeking early liaison on issues, and having the difficult 

conversations early to ensure a 'no surprises' approach – always doing the right thing

 Providing regional training and networking opportunities for your teams on technical accounting 

issues and developments and changes to Annual Reporting requirements

 An efficient audit approach, providing  tangible benefits, such as releasing finance staff earlier 

and prompt resolution of issues.

Delivering real 
value through:

Our client base 
and delivery
 We are the largest supplier of external audit 

services to local government

 We audit over 150 local government clients

 We signed 95% of  our local government 
opinions in 2017/18 by 31 July

 In our latest independent client service 
review, we consistently score 9/10 or 
above. Clients value our strong interaction, 
our local knowledge and wealth of 
expertise.

Our technical 
support
 We have specialist leads for Public Sector 

Audit quality and technical

 We provide national technical guidance on 
emerging auditing, financial reporting and 
ethical areas

 Specialist audit software is used to deliver 
maximum efficiencies

Our commitment to our local government 

clients

• Senior level investment

• Local presence enhancing our 

responsiveness, agility and flexibility.

• High quality audit delivery

• Collaborative working across the public 

sector

• Wider connections across the public sector 

economy, including with health and other 

local government bodies

• Investment in Health and Wellbeing, Social 

Value and the Vibrant Economy 

• Sharing of best practice and our thought 

leadership.

• Invitations to training events locally and 

regionally – bespoke training for emerging 

issues

• Further investment in data analytics and 

informatics to keep our knowledge of the 

areas up to date and to assist in designing a 

fully tailored audit approach

P
age 34



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  HPBC 2018-19 Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2019

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 

firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 

separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 

another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to the Audit and Regulatory Committee

23rd October 2019

Appendices attached: 
Appendix A: Strategic Risks (by exception)
Appendix B: Operational Risks (by exception)
Appendix C: Project Risks (by exception)
Appendix D: Opportunity Risks (all registers by exception)

1.        Reason for the Report

1.1 The purpose of the report is to allow the robust scrutiny of the Council’s risk 
management arrangements in accordance with generally accepted good 
practice.  

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the Committee notes the Council’s current risk position and the mitigation 
/ fruition plans summarised within Appendix A (strategic risks), Appendix B 
(operational risks), Appendix C (project risks) and Appendix D (opportunity 
risks). 

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The Council’s Strategic, Operational and Project Risk Registers are reviewed 
by the Audit and Regulatory Committee on an exception basis. This report is 
based upon the Council’s position as at June 2019.   

3.2 The latest analysis of the Strategic Risk Register reveals that the Council has 
identified and assessed 16 strategic risks, of which 38% are rated as 'high' 
and therefore above the Council’s risk tolerance threshold. The six ‘high’ rated 
risks are listed in full at Appendix A.   

TITLE: Risk Management Update (overview of 
strategic, operational and project risks)   

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Cllr Alan Barrow – Executive Councillor for 
Corporate Services and Finance

CONTACT OFFICER: Information Business Partner

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-specific

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



3.3 The Operational Risk Registers reveal that the Council has identified and 
assessed 40 operational risks in total, of which five are rated as ‘high’ and 
therefore above the Council’s risk tolerance thresholds. The risks falling within 
the ‘high’ category are listed in full at Appendix B.

3.4 The project risk registers now cover 11 projects and the risk profile is bulleted 
below:

 0% Critical 
 4% High – 1 risk 
 17% Medium – 5 risks 
 79% Low – 23 risks

3.5 Following the scheduled adoption of a new Corporate Plan for 2019-2023, it 
will be necessary to conduct an internal strategic risk review which ensures 
that the authority’s new ambitions have been considered and assessed in 
order to minimise barriers to their achievement and maximise the inherent 
opportunities presented through their delivery. This will be carried out during 
the December / January risk review.  

4. Evaluation of Options

4.1 There are no options to consider

5. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

5.1 Risk management impacts on all service areas and therefore links to each of 
the Council’s Corporate Plan aims.   

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2 Workforce
None 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's 
Diversity and Equality Policies

6.4 Financial Considerations
Effective risk management contributes to financial objectives 

6.5 Legal
None

Page 38



6.6 Sustainability
None

6.7 Internal and External Consultation
None

6.8 Risk Assessment
The Council’s risk registers are a critical element in the Council’s 
Risk Management Framework.  

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief Finance Officer

Background Papers Location Contact details

Risk Registers – June 2019 Buxton Town Hall Information Business Partner
Vanessa.higgins@highpeak.gov.uk 
Tel Ext 4057

Page 39

mailto:Vanessa.higgins@highpeak.gov.uk


7. Background and Introduction

7.1 The Council ensures that it undertakes a deliberate and systematic 
identification of the key risks that might prevent, degrade, delay or enhance 
the achievement of its objectives and priorities. The Council's Risk 
Management Strategy sets out the process for undertaking this on an ongoing 
basis. 

7.2 In addition to the identification of risks, managers also have to quantify them in 
terms of likelihood and potential impact. The risks are then recorded in the 
Council's Risk Registers. These have three aspects – strategic, operational 
and project risks. 

7.3 Under the Risk Management Strategy, the Council’s ‘risk tolerance’ threshold 
is set along the border between ‘medium’ and ‘high’ rated residual risks. The 
Strategy stipulates that mitigating actions should be identified for all risks that 
exceed this threshold.

7.4 The Council’s Strategic, Operational and Project Risk Registers are reviewed 
on a quarterly basis and reported into the Corporate Risk Management Group 
and the Audit and Regulatory Committee on an exception basis. The 
appendices provide details of all risks that have been rated as ‘high’ or above, 
and therefore beyond the Council’s risk tolerance threshold.  

8. Strategic Risks

8.1 The current strategic risk register was compiled in autumn 2018 following an 
external review. The adoption of a new Corporate Plan later this year will 
trigger the need for a further review of the register to ensure it remains 
relevant; capturing the threats and opportunities around revised priorities.

8.2 The June 2019 analysis of the Strategic Risk Register reveals that the Council 
has identified and assessed 16 Strategic Risks, of which 38% are rated as 
'high' and therefore above the Council’s risk tolerance threshold. The Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan risk has now been removed from the 
register as long term forecasts now show the Business Plan to be affordable. 
There continues to be four opportunity risks within the register – housing 
growth, business growth, commercialism (trading) and effective contractor 
relations, which the alliance is working to reap the benefits from.

8.3 The Council’s risk profile is displayed below and reflects the changes 
highlighted above. 

Residual Risk Rating High Peak
Risks

Alliance
Risks

Total
Risks

Critical - - -
High - 6 6
Medium 1 7 8
Low - 2 2

Total Risks 16

Page 40



    
Matrix 1: Risk Threats 

Matrix 2: Risk Opportunities

   
8.4 The six high rated risks are mapped on Matrix 1 above and the four 

opportunity risks are shown on Matrix 2. The categories of risk now recorded 
on the strategic risk register cover a broader range of risk types than 
before. The graphic below illustrates the risk profile across both threats and 
opportunities and also across our Corporate Plan aims.     

Impact
1 2 3 4 5

5
4

3

-  IT Security
- MTFP
- Ext Funding 
for Growth 

- Contract 
Mngt

- Investment 
into assets 

2

  
Safeguarding 

duty 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

1

Impact
5 4 3 2 1

5
4

Effective 
contractor 
relations

3

Housing & 
Business 
Growth

Council 
Trading

2

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

1

Page 41



9. Operational Risks 

9.1 The June 2019 analysis of the Operational Risk Registers reveals that the 
Council has identified and assessed 40 operational risks in total, of which five 
are rated as ‘high’ and therefore above the Council’s risk tolerance threshold. 
The main change to the Council’s operational risk profile has been the addition 
of a new risk register for the Carelink Service following recent changes to its 
structure and operating model. The register followed on from an externally 
facilitated risk workshop, which took place with members of the service and 
other key officers. 

9.2 The five risks falling within the ‘high’ category are listed in full at Appendix B. A 
full breakdown of the Council’s operational risk profile is given below:

Residual Risk 
Rating

High Peak Risks Alliance
Risks

Total Risks

Critical - - -
High 1 4 5
Medium 5 7 12
Low 5 18 23

Total Risks 40
   

9.3 The greatest number of operational risks sits within the Operational Services 
area, which encompasses waste and recycling; street scene, leisure, 
horticulture and the DLO. 

9.4 An analysis of the alignment of risk to our corporate objectives shows that 
most operational risks relate to the use of resources in order to achieve value 
for money.  

Page 42



10. Project Risks

10.1 The alliance’s project management methodology requires all projects to 
present an assessment of associated risks at Stage Two of the decision-
making process for project approval.

10.2 June’s risk review has seen several new project risk registers added and 
some movement within individual registers. 

 Digital Portal
 Committee Management System 
 Accelerated housing delivery programme (HP) 
 Hybrid Mail 
 AES Phased Implementation 
 Glossop Cemetery (HP)
 Crescent (HP)
 Glossop Halls (HP)
 Leisure Management NEW
 Civica Pay NEW
 Enhanced Trading NEW

 
10.3 The profile of project risk threats overall is bulleted below: 

 0% Critical 
 4% High – 1 risk 
 17% Medium – 5 risks 
 79% Low – 23 risks 

Page 43



10.4 In addition, a total of 16 opportunity risks have been identified across six of the 
above projects, with all three new projects identifying the positive 
opportunities within the projects. 

Page 44



Appendix A: Above tolerance Strategic Risks
AMT 
Owner 

Ref Risk 
Description 
(uncertainty)

Current Controls Impact Likelihood Further Mitigation Plans Date

Andrew 
Stokes

SRR
T - 2

Delivery of MTFP 
through the 
Efficiency and 
Rationalisation 
Strategy

Effective programme and 
project management 
methodology for the 
transformation programme. 
Performance Management 
Framework monitors the 
achievement of Council 
Aims. 2017/18 efficiency 
savings targets have been 
met (Yr 1). Nov 2018 - 
efficiencies are on track. 
Leisure procurement 
projects completed. 

4 3 1. Monthly Transformation 
Board meetings to oversee key 
projects linked to the efficiency 
and rationalisation strategy e.g. 
housing delivery programmes to 
facilitate growth and the various 
income generation projects. 2. 
Accelerated procurement 
projects including environmental 
services (phase 3) and facilities 
management. 3. Mid year 
review of MTFP which 
recognises the continuing 
uncertainties around local 
government finance (NHB, 
BRRS).

1. Ongoing  2. 
As per project 
milestones 3. 
MTFP review - 
autumn 2019

Andrew 
Stokes

SRR
T - 5

Effective contract 
management

1. Contract register in place. 
2. Clear specification at the 
point of contract 
appointment e.g. KPIs. 3. 
Allocated contract manager 
within service areas. 4. Pre-
qualification checks. 5. Due 
diligence undertaken. 6. 
Insurance requirements. 7. 
Bond / Financial Security 
guarantee for high value / 
high risk larger contracts.  
8. Ensure Payments to 
suppliers are processed in 
accordance with the terms 
of the appointments (to 
ensure cash flow in supply 

5 3 1. Procurement Business 
Partner meetings with Service 
Managers have a contract 
management focus and will 
provide prompts for ongoing 
contractor checks needed e.g. 
insurance reviews. 2. Updated 
Procurement Strategy will have 
an enhanced focus on contract 
management, including a new 
Toolkit for use by contract 
managers. 3. Implement the 
contract management module of 
the e-tendering system to help 
with contract monitoring and 
consolidation of data. 4. Carry 
out a risk-prioritisation exercise 

1. Held 
quarterly. 2. By 
June 2019. 3, 4 
and 5 during 
2019/20. 

P
age 45



AMT 
Owner 

Ref Risk 
Description 
(uncertainty)

Current Controls Impact Likelihood Further Mitigation Plans Date

chain). for major contracts and conduct 
annual financial health checks 
against the most critical 
contractors.  5. Review 
Suppliers contract list and 
activity in market, market insight 
on strength of trading.

Dai 
Larner

SRR
T - 6

External funding 
for growth / 
regeneration 
schemes

1. Pre-Brexit bids have 
been guaranteed. 2. 
Lobbying of LEP for future 
funding and investment.  

4 3 1. Seek alternative funding 
sources e.g. Homes England. 2. 
Consider the feasibility of 
utilising the Council's borrowing 
ability to finance key schemes. 

1. Linked to 
accelerated 
housing 
delivery 
programme 2. 
As dictated by 
project 
timescales

Mark 
Trillo

SRR
T - 9

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 
– fulfilling our 
legal duty

1. Revised Joint Policy in 
place for Safeguarding 
Children and Vulnerable 
Adults. 2. Council is a 
member of the District 
Safeguarding Network 
(Staffs).3 All staff have 
been briefed on the 
safeguarding policy and 
identified staff have 
received level 1 training in 
safeguarding children. 4. 
Training on adult 
safeguarding has been 
provided to key staff 
members. 

5 2 The Alliance Safeguarding 
Group meets quarterly to 
manage risks. All staff members 
receive training according to a 
rolling -programme linked to 
their level of risk. The 
Safeguarding Policy and actions 
are reviewed annually though a 
report to Elected Members

On-going

Andrew 
Stokes

SRR
T - 
13

Investment into 
council assets 
and long term 

Asset register on 
databases. Ownership 
information within land 

5 3 1. Consider the options for an 
assets database for public 
buildings and commercial 

1. June 2019 2 
and 3. March 
2020

P
age 46



AMT 
Owner 

Ref Risk 
Description 
(uncertainty)

Current Controls Impact Likelihood Further Mitigation Plans Date

planning terrier format. Capital spend 
identified broadly on MTFP 
only. 

estate. 2. Consider the scope 
and options for condition 
surveys of the public buildings. 
3. Asset Management Plan 
(AMP) to be worked through to 
determine the level and extend 
of capital schemes and planned 
maintenance following the 
condition survey data.

Andrew 
Stokes

SRR
T - 
17

Cyber risk and IT 
Security 

1. ICT security policy 2. 
Staff training (ICT Use 
2018) 3. Annual health 
checks - December 2017 
was the last one 4. IT 
strategy infrastructure 
review completed and IT 
Infrastructure project 
completed. 5. Health check 
completed March 2019 with 
no issues. 6. Microsoft 
Licence audit completed, 
again with no compliance 
issues.            

4 3 1. Develop an IT / Digital 
Strategy providing direction for 
the alliance in the medium term 
2. Regular training and 
communication updates 3. 
Socitm commissioned to do a 
strategic review, which will 
involve IT security arrangements 
and will inform the procurement 
of a new IT contract. 

1. Strategy - 
March 2020 2. 
GDPR online 
training Spring 
2019. 3. IT 
Contract due 
October 2020

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B: Above Tolerance Operational Risks
Service Ref Risk 

Description 
(uncertainty)

Current Controls Impact Likelihood Further Mitigation Plans Date

Carelink CL2 Risk of significant 
reduction in 
Supporting 
People funding 
with additional 
support required. 

Previous changes to 
Supporting People funding 
have been addressed by 
amending arrangements 
accordingly. 

4 3 DCC have now confirmed 
that funding for existing SP 
clients will remain in place 
but there will be very little 
funding for new clients going 
forward. This means that 
from November new tenants 
will have to self-fund. From 
September 2019 all 
allocations will have this 
explicitly explained.  

November 
2019

Democratic 
and 
Community

DC1 Breach of equality 
regulations

1. Equality impact 
assessments undertaken                           
2.Equalities policy in place                                              
3. Equality impact has been 
written into the new project 
methodology currently 
being introduced.
4. Staff training programme 
delivered.
5. Monitor completion and 
quality of EIAs through the 
Mod Gov. system. EIA has 
been revised in Modern 
Gov Mar 2019.

4 3 Training for managers on 
Equality Impact Assessment 
and associated use of the 
Mod Gov report writing 
function. 

October 2019                                                                                                                         

Finance and 
Procurement

FP1 Risk to income 
stream/budgetary 
overspend

1. Budget monitoring                                                            
2. Efficiency programme                    
3. Consider latest 
intelligence for budget 
reviews                        
4.Contingency reserve in 
place

4 3 1. Ensure there is a provision 
in the General Fund on an 
annual review basis. 
2. Monitor budget position 
and target specific areas 
quarterly throughout the year                                           
3. Resourcing of efficiency 
and transformation process 

Ongoing 
continual 
process

P
age 49



Service Ref Risk 
Description 
(uncertainty)

Current Controls Impact Likelihood Further Mitigation Plans Date

via the Transformation Board 
monthly

FP2 Pension Liability 
risk to budget

1. Monitoring of pension 
liability. 2. Careful 
consideration of pension 
cost implications when 
awarding contracts 
(externalisation of services). 
3. Base budgets on latest 
intelligence. 4. Manage 
pressure through the 
Financial Planning process. 
5. Close liaison with 
pensions authority                                                                
6. Careful workforce 
planning 

4 3 1. Flag up potential long term 
risks and manage carefully 
as part of the medium term 
financial planning process.                                                            
2. The LGPS triennial 
valuation outcomes have 
been incorporated into the 
updated MTFP in Feb 2017.  
The next review will take 
place in 3 years.

1. Ongoing                                                                                                                                                                                      
2. Ongoing

FP3 Treasury 
Management 
failure(General)

1. Professional training of 
staff. 2. Professional advice 
and support. 3. Careful 
control of lending list 
including investment limits 
on institutions through 
formally adopted Treasury 
Management strategy.                
4. Full compliance with the 
Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy's 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice 
on Treasury Management

5 2 Carry out regular credit 
checks and react to latest 
developments in treasury 
management risk
Incorporate into the annual 
Treasury Management 
Strategy

Ongoing 
continual 
process

P
age 50



Appendix C: Above Tolerance Project Risks
Project Ref Risk Description 

(vulnerability)
Current Controls Impact Likelihood Further Mitigation Plans Date

Glossop 
Cemetery

GC1 Ground Conditions 
(potential 
contamination / 
habitat issues)

Site Surveys / 
environmental impact  to be 
carried out before contract 
award

5 2 Boreholes dug initial results 
indicate there is no current 
pollution from the cemetery. 
Further testing is required 
possibly over the next 6 
months

01/02/2020

  

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D: Above Tolerance Opportunity Risks 
AMT 
Owner

Ref Opportunity Controls Impact Likelihood Fruition Plans Date

Strategic
Dai 
Larner

SRR
O - 1

Housing Growth 1. Affordable Homes 
Programme. 2. Empty 
Homes Strategy in place. 
3. Local Plan approved for 
High Peak. 4. Accelerated 
Housing Delivery 
Programme

5 3 1. Empty homes strategy 
implementation. 2. Focus on 
growth agenda through Local Plan 
delivery - realisation of 
Accelerated Housing Delivery 
Programme. 3. Work with Homes 
England to access funding to 
support housing growth.   

1. As per 
action plan 
timescales 2. 
Project 
timescales. 3. 
Underway 

Dai 
Larner

SRR
O - 2

Business Growth 1. Growth Hub referrals. 2. 
County working e.g. 
participation in Derbyshire 
100% retention pilot for 
2018/19. 3. Provision of 
employment units 4. 
Business Newsletters 
advising of grant funding 
opportunities and training 
events to help businesses 
survive and flourish

5 3 1. Implement the accelerated 
business growth and employment 
programme. 2. Work with LEP 
partners to access vital funding to 
support business growth

1. As per 
project 
timescales 2. 
Ongoing as 
per individual 
scheme 
requirements

Andrew 
Stokes

SRR
O - 3

Council trading 
(commercialism)

1. Project underway within 
Income Generation stream 
of the Efficiency and 
Rationalisation strategy. 2. 
External support 
commissioned 3. Joint 
Ventures 4. Independent 
assessments of the 
alliance's commercial 
acumen 5. regional 
benchmarking around 
income generation

4 3 1. Development of commercial 
competency framework that 
underpins our Values, for use in 
recruitment and staff development 
2. Income Generation project 3. 
Develop a Commercial Strategy 
and action plan 

1. Dec 2019 
2. As per 
project 
timescales 3. 
Autumn 2019

P
age 53



AMT 
Owner

Ref Opportunity Controls Impact Likelihood Fruition Plans Date

Andrew 
Stokes

SRR
O - 4

Effective 
contractor 
relationships

Current procurement and 
contract management 
arrangements

3 4 1. Greater focus on Council as 
commissioner 2. Effective contract 
management arrangements that 
build up effective partnership 
arrangements

1. New roles 
in place. 2. 
As per CM 
actions on 
SRRT 5.

Operational
CLO1 Capitalizing on 

the new operating 
model to grow the 
client base

These opportunities can 
be properly explored once 
the new structure has 
been implemented

4 5 Marketing, advertising and 
promotion

Review in 
Mar 2020

Mary 
Walker - 
Carelink

CLO2 Capitalizing on 
the new operating 
model to expand 
the range of 
services offered 

These opportunities can 
be properly explored once 
the new structure has 
been implemented

4 5 Marketing, advertising and 
promotion

Review in 
Mar 2020

Tanya 
Cooper

ODT
OR1

Efficiency 
opportunities 
arising from the 
implementation of 
new IT systems

IT strategy being 
evaluated to create a 
clearer picture of the way 
forward and the required 
actions

3 4 Background work around the IT 
strategy is being evaluated by 
Andrew Stokes

Q2

Projects
Dai 
Larner - 
Crescent

Cres1 The Crescent 
project will off a 
significant 
contribution to the 
visitor economy 
of the Peak 
District

Funding received for the 
development of a Visitor 
Economy Strategy for 
Buxton. Crescent Trust in 
place.

4 4 Visitor economy strategy agreed 
and meeting arranged with group 
of stakeholders to implement the 
destination management action 
plan. This will form the basis for 
the Future High Street Fund bid 
for Buxton.

22 March 
submission of 
expression of 
interest to 
Future High 
Street Fund

Mary 
Walker – 
Cust 
Portal

Port4 There is a huge 
opportunity to 
work with 
partners to 
increase levels of 
digital inclusion 

Established working 
relationships with external 
partners to help those that 
may feel digitally 
excluded, particularly via 
the CAB.

4 3 Review the 'triage' process each 
quarter to ensure that the correct 
messages are being given to 
vulnerable residents.

Support staff by carrying out 

Monthly

Quarterly

P
age 54



AMT 
Owner

Ref Opportunity Controls Impact Likelihood Fruition Plans Date

across the 
Alliance. The installation of iPads / 

self-serve equipment in 
reception areas. CGI are 
assisting the Alliance with 
compiling a digital 
strategy. This will bring 
digital to the forefront of 
everything that we do, and 
will be a living document 
communicated widely to 
all staff.

Business partners working 
with service areas to 
improve and increase 
services online. 
Floorwalkers introduced to 
reception areas to 
signpost and assist with 
self serve.

monthly monitoring sessions with 
individuals to support them 
through the early phase of OneVu 
launch.

Re-iterate the self serve message 
through weekly training sessions. 
Guidance notes and training to be 
placed on the CS procedures 
intranet page.

Partnership working with Citizens 
Advice has increased, in light of 
UC. This should help the Alliance 
to support vulnerable residents 
with digital services.

July 2017 
onwards

ditto

Andrew 
Stokes – 
Leisure 

L1 Management of 
the sites by one 
contractor 
delivers financial 
efficiencies to the 
Alliance.

Report of financial 
outcomes will be shared 
by the provider. Provider 
has increased control in 
regards to setting of 
charges for service 
delivered; proposals to 
change such must be 
approved by the Client.

4 5 Annual review of charges and 
financial position assessed by 
Client.

Ongoing

  

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Audit & Regulatory Committee

23 October 2019

TITLE: Treasury Management - Mid Year Update 
Report

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Barrow- Executive Councillor for 
Corporate Services and Finance

CONTACT OFFICER: Claire Hazeldene – Deputy Director and Head 
of Finance

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-specific

Appendices Attached:
Appendix A - Treasury Management Mid-Year Update Report 30th September 
2019

1. Reason for the Report

1.1. To allow the robust scrutiny of the Council’s treasury management performance 
in 2019/20 in compliance with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management and generally 
accepted good practice

2. Recommendation

2.1. That the Committee note the current Treasury Management position as at 30th 
September 2019.

3. Executive Summary

3.1. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management was adopted by the Council in March 2010. 
This Council fully complies with its requirements, one of which is to produce at 
least one mid-year operational report.

3.2. This report comprises the following:

 The latest interest rate forecast;
 Investment income earned to date and projected for 2019/20;

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



 The current investment portfolio;
 Capital programme update, the borrowing portfolio with projected 

borrowing costs for 2019/20 and debt rescheduling options; and
 Compliance against Prudential and Treasury indicators set in the Treasury 

Management Strategy 2019/20.

3.3. The main headlines include:

 The Bank of England base rate remains unchanged at 0.75% and the 
forecast increase has been moved back to December 2020.

 HM Treasury has announced that with immediate effect the PWLB new 
loan rates would be increased by 1%.

 A shortfall of £47,000 is expected against the investment income budget of 
£225,260 due to the delayed increase in interest rates and continuing 
internal borrowing. This will be partially offset by interest income of £14,360 
from the loan to the Buxton Crescent Heritage Trust which was not 
included in the original budget.

 A saving of £88,570 overall is forecast on the borrowing costs budget, split 
£53,140 to the general fund and £35,430 to the HRA, due to internal 
borrowing.

 The average return on investments achieved by the Council during the 
period from 1st July to 30th September was 0.82%. This compares 
favorably to short-term industry benchmarks.

 The Council’s investment portfolio totalled £21 million spread across six 
separate institutions as at 30th September 2019.

 The Council’s total level of debt as at 30th September was £66.8 million at 
an average annual borrowing rate of 3.92%.  

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1. An effective treasury management function is critical in safeguarding and 
effectively managing the financial resources at the Council’s disposal. Sufficient 
financial resources are required to deliver and underpin all of the Council’s main 
priorities.

5. Alternative Options

5.1. This report sets out the treasury management position for High Peak Borough 
Council for 2019/20 to date and the projected outturn. As such it is a statement 
of fact and there are no options.

Page 58



ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) and Chief Finance Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

‘Treasury Management – Governance & 
Scrutiny Arrangements’ (Audit & 
Regulatory Committee September 2009)

‘Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement 2019/20’ (Audit & Regulatory 
Committee, February 2019)

Finance & Procurement
Town Hall, Buxton

Claire Hazeldene
Deputy Director & Head of Finance
claire.hazeldene@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Emily Bennetts
Finance Business Partner
Emily.Bennetts@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

Treasury Management Update 
30th September 2019

1. Introduction 

2. Economic Forecast – Interest Rates

3. Investment Income

4. Investment Portfolio

5. Capital Programme & Borrowing Position

6. Prudential Indicators

High Peak Borough Council
Working for our community

Page 61



1. Introduction 

1.1. Treasury Management is defined as “the management of the Authority’s 
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those 
risks”.

1.2. The Council has adopted CIPFA’s revised Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management which recommends that Members should be briefed on 
Treasury Management activities at least twice a year.

1.3. The Audit & Regulatory Committee has delegated responsibility for 
scrutinising the treasury function.  The Committee’s role includes approval 
of the annual treasury management strategy and scrutiny of operational 
treasury management reports.  Decisions taken by the Audit & Regulatory 
Committee are reported to full Council.

1.4. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2019/20 was 
approved by Council on 13th February 2019. This report details treasury 
management performance up to the 30th September 2019 and projects 
forward for the remainder of the financial year.

2. Economic Forecast – Interest Rates

2.1. The Council’s treasury advisers, Link Asset Services (‘Link’), provide the 
latest base rate and PWLB (Public Works Loan Board) forecast:

% Dec-
19

Mar-
20

Jun-
20

Sep-
20

Dec-
20

Mar-
21

Jun-
21

Sep-
21

Dec-
21

Mar-
22

Bank Rate 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25
5yr PWLB 

rate 2.30 2.50 2.60 2.70 2.70 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.00 3.10

10r PWLB 
rate 2.60 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40

25yr PWLB 
rate 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.70 3.70 3.80 3.90 4.00 4.00

50yr PWLB 
rate 3.20 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.60 3.70 3.80 3.90 3.90

2.2. Link has revised the interest rate forecast to take account of the continuing 
uncertainties around the exit of the EU and political situations both domestic 
and international. The forecast increase for the Bank of England base rate 
to 1.00% has been moved back to the quarter ending December 2020 with 
no further increase beyond this until March 2022. Link continues to 
acknowledge that unfolding events could prompt movements in rates in 
either direction at any time. 

Page 62



2.3. HM Treasury made an announcement on 9th October that with immediate 
effect the PWLB new loan rates would be increased by 1% - this has been 
reflected in the interest rate forecast table at paragraph 2.1. 

2.4. Annex A to this report contains the full announcement from HM Treasury 
regarding this change to new loans from the PWLB.

3. Investment Income 

3.1. Interest earned on investment deposits up to 30th September 2019 totalled 
£73,740. The Council has budgeted to receive £225,260 in investment 
income in 2019/20. The budget was set with an expectation of higher 
interest rates than the current environment: 1.00% for the first three 
quarters of the year and a further potential rate rise to 1.25% at the end of 
the year. The Bank of England base rate remains at 0.75% at the end of the 
first quarter and is now not expected to rise until 2020/21. In addition, the 
Council continues to internally borrow some of the underlying borrowing 
requirement from previous capital expenditure resulting in a smaller 
investment portfolio. Therefore a shortfall of £47,000 is currently forecast on 
the investment income budget; this will be monitored throughout the year.

3.2. Average interest rates achieved on the Council’s investments are shown in 
the table below; these compare favourably to the LIBID rates, the 
recognised industry benchmark rates:

Comparator Average 
Rate Q1

Average 
Rate Q2

HPBC Average 0.82% 0.82%
HPBC long-term fixed (>364 days) 1.25% 1.21%
HPBC short-term fixed (<364 days) 0.97% 0.98%
HPBC instant access 0.67% 0.64%
Benchmarks
*LIBID 7 day rate 0.57% 0.56%
*LIBID 3 month rate 0.68% 0.64%
*LIBID 6 month rate 0.78% 0.69%
*LIBID 12 month rate 0.91% 0.75%
Base Rate at the end of the period 0.75% 0.75%

*LIBID = London Inter Bank Bid Rate

3.3. The table below highlights the level of investment activity and the rates 
obtained in the period from 1st July to 30th September 2019.  Investments 
are made in line with Link’s creditworthiness guidance and the duration 
limits applied to each colour banding.
Institution Country of 

Domicile Amount Length Rate

Lloyds Bank (RFB) UK £1,000,000 1 year 1.10%
Instant Access Cash
(Instant Access Accounts & 
Money Market Funds)

UK £2,451,187
(daily average) 0.64%

Page 63



3.4. The rates achieved by the Council vary by institution, by duration of 
investment and by the timing of when the investment was made. The 
Council’s lending criteria restricts the number of financial institutions that 
are eligible to be on the lending list, and the amount that can be invested 
with eligible counterparties (and counterparty groups) at any one time. 

3.5. The majority of the investment portfolio is held on a short-term basis (<1 
year). The Council uses same day access business accounts, money 
market funds, fixed term deposits and certificates of deposits (via the use of 
custodian King & Shaxson) which offer competitive rates and access to 
banks that would not necessarily deal direct with the Authority for the sums 
invested.

4. Investment Portfolio

4.1. The Council manages its investments in-house and invests with financial 
institutions meeting the Council’s approved lending criteria. The Council’s 
investment portfolio at 30th September 2019 totalled £20,985,000:

Financial Institution
Country 

of 
Domicile

Amount
Maximum 

recommended lending 
duration

Average 
interest 

rate at end 
of period

Average 
Maturity

Money Market Funds UK £6,900,000 WHITE (12 months) 0.75% Instant access
Santander UK UK £4,500,000 RED (6 months) 1.00% 95 day notice
Lloyds Bank (RFB) UK £3,150,000 ORANGE (12 months) 1.05% 300 days
NatWest Bank (RFB) UK £3,135,000 BLUE (12 months) 0.30% Instant access
Goldman Sachs UK £2,000,000 RED (6 months) 0.95% 183 days
Bank of Scotland UK £1,300,000 ORANGE (12 months) 0.65% Instant access

TOTAL £20,985,00
0

4.2. The maximum investment term, as recommended by Link, is shown by 
colour banding in the table below:

Colour Banding
Maximum 

Duration of 
Investment

UK 
Banks

International 
Banks

PURPLE Up to 2 years £6.0m £4.5m
ORANGE Up to 12 months £5.4m £3.6m

RED Up to 6 months £4.5m £3.0m
GREEN Up to 100 days £3.9m £2.4m

BLUE (Part & fully nationalised 
financial institutions) Up to 1 year £6.0m n/a

BLUE (NatWest) Up to 1 year £9.0m n/a

Money Market Funds Up to 1 year £5.4m n/a
Up to 1 year n/a n/aWHITE (Lending to the 

Government / Local Authorities) Over 1 Year £4.0m n/a

Page 64



4.3. Group limits are also applied:

Category
Portfolio 

(% of 
highest 

balance*)

Individual 
Principal 

Limit

Portfolio % 
increased by 

50%

Group 
Principal 

Limit

BLUE 20% £6.0m 30% £9.0m
PURPLE 20% £6.0m 30% £9.0m
ORANGE 18% £5.4m 27% £8.1m

RED 15% £4.5m 23% £6.9m
GREEN 13% £3.9m 20% £6.0m
Money 
Market 
Funds

18% £5.4m 23% £6.9m

 
4.4. The average level of funds available for investment up to 30th September 

2019 was £17.9million. Investments are generally made up of short-term 
cash and core cash. Short-term cash is dependent on the timing of major 
payments e.g. precept payments, salaries and creditor payments, and 
major receipts e.g. receipt of grants and Council Tax direct debits.  Core 
cash is dependent on capital programme commitments. 

Crescent Development

4.5. The Council agreed to provide a loan to the Buxton Crescent Heritage Trust 
as part of the Crescent development, per the Individual Executive Decision 
report dated 24th October 2018 (Confidential Exempt Information by virtue 
of paragraphs 3 and 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government 
Act 1972); and approved at full Council on 12th December 2018.

4.6. The loan has now been fully drawn to the value of £250,000: £70,000 on 
28th February 2019; £70,000 on 25th March 2019; £60,000 on 25th April 
2019; and £50,000 on 25th May 2019. Interest is charged on the loan at 6% 
which amounts to £14,360 during 2019/20. This was not anticipated in the 

Page 65



budget, therefore will partially offset the £47,000 shortfall on investment 
income forecast above.

Page 66



5. Capital Programme Update & Borrowing Position

Capital Programme Update

5.1. The table below provides current projections for capital expenditure and 
funding:

TMSS Estimate 
2019/20

Current Estimate 
(including 18/19 
approved carry 

forwards)*
Total Capital Expenditure £10,838,000 £9,754,000
    General Fund £6,744,000 £6,130,000
    HRA £4,094,000 £3,624,000
Funded by:
    Capital Receipts £1,288,000 £1,426,000
    External Funding £765,000 £921,000
    Capital Reserves £2,175,000 £2,599,000
    HRA Contribution £1,934,000 £1,464,000
2019/20 Net Financing Requirement £4,676,000 £3,344,000
Capital Financing Requirement
  Opening CFR £79,786,000 £79,897,000
    PLUS Net Financing Requirement £4,676,000 £3,344,000
    LESS Minimum Revenue Provision (£1,782,000) (£1,782,000)
  Closing CFR £82,680,000 £81,459,000
    General Fund £28,821,000 £28,060,000
    Housing £53,859,000 £53,399,000

* Estimate pending Q2 forecast outturn and November 2019 MTFP

5.2. The Net Financing Requirement on 2019/20 expenditure is now estimated 
at £3,344,000: the change relates to reprofiled capital schemes.

5.3. The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is a prudential indicator set to 
ensure that the Council's capital investment plans are affordable. The CFR 
represents the total outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet been 
paid for from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially a measure 
of the Council's underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure 
and is derived by aggregating specified items for the Council's balance 
sheet. The closing CFR is in line with the Capital Financing Requirement 
set in the Treasury Strategy Statement. On the basis of the latest forecasts, 
the Council's capital investment plans remain affordable.

Borrowing Position

5.4. In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, it is a statutory duty of 
the Council to determine and keep under review how much it can afford to 
borrow.  Therefore, the Council establishes ‘Affordable Borrowing Limits’ as 
part of the prudential indicators within the approved Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement.

Page 67



5.5. The Council’s total outstanding debt as at 30th September 2019 is 
£66,825,404, as detailed in the table below:

Lender External 
Borrowing

Average 
Interest Rate Maturity period

Public Works Loan Board £54,025,404 3.76% between 2 and 43 years

Market Loans £12,800,000 4.57% between 3 and 48 years

Total £66,825,404 3.92%

5.6. The ‘operational boundary’ (£88,182,000) and ‘authorised limit’ 
(£90,682,000) indicators govern the maximum level of external borrowing 
available to the Council to fund the capital programme. The current level of 
borrowing is within prudential limits.

5.7. The Council adopts a ‘one pool’ approach to borrowing whereby 
investments and borrowing are managed centrally with the proportional 
income and expenditure then split between the general fund and HRA. The 
Council has budgeted for interest charges and other financing costs of 
£1,794,630 to the general fund and £1,783,310 to the HRA in 2019/20.

5.8. The budget for borrowing costs was based on the existing external debt and 
new external debt from the 2018/19 and 2019/20 general fund borrowing 
requirements. There has been no ‘new’ borrowing thus far during the 
current year and the Council continues to maintain a level of internal 
borrowing which is reducing the level of forecast borrowing costs for the 
year by £88,570: split £53,140 to the general fund and £35,430 to the HRA. 

5.9. The treasury team will continue to monitor the appropriate time to externally 
borrow based on the profile of spend and opportunities to ‘internally’ borrow, 
considering the movement in interest rates and the cost of carry of any 
borrowings taken.

5.10. Attention must also be given to the maturity profile of the loans to ensure 
maturity dates are evenly spread so that the Council is not exposed to a 
substantial re-financing requirement at any one time, when interest rates 
are high. The graph below details the maturity profile of current loans.

Page 68



Less than 
1 year*

1 - 2 
years

2 - 5 
years

6 - 10 
years

11- 20 
years

21 - 30 
years

31 - 40 
years

41 - 50 
years

Greater 
than 50 
years

-

5,000,000

10,000,000

15,000,000

20,000,000

25,000,000

30,000,000

Debt Maturity Profile

*In accordance with guidance, the maturity date of LOBO’s is deemed to be the next call date. Loans 
of £4.3m showing as ‘less than 1 year’ have a full maturity date of £1m 2023/24, £3.3m 2064/65.

5.11. Debt rescheduling is the reorganisation of existing debt in such a way as to 
amend the debt repayments, reduce the principal sum borrowed, alter the 
degree of volatility of debt or vary the interest payable, thus managing the 
risk.  The treasury team, along with Link, continually monitor prospects for 
debt rescheduling to achieve overall financial benefit to the Council.

5.12. No rescheduling has taken place during 2019/20 to date.  The Council will 
work with Link to identify any potential debt rescheduling options – taking 
account of the premium the Council would expect to pay on early 
redemption compared to the potential interest savings.  

6. Prudential Indicators

6.1. The Council has operated within the treasury management and prudential 
indicators set in its Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20 and 
complies with the Council’s Treasury Management Practices.

Page 69



Annex A

Page 70



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Audit & Regulatory Committee

23 October 2019

TITLE: 2019/20 Internal Audit Periodic Report
April 2019 to September 2019

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Alan Barrow - Executive 
Councillor for Corporate Services and 
Finance

CONTACT OFFICER: John Leak – Head of Audit

WARDS INVOLVED: Non Specific

Appendices Attached:
Appendix 1 - Audit Reports Issued Between 1st April 2019 and 30th September 
2019
Appendix 2 - Internal Audit 2019/20 Progress Information as at 30th September 
2019
Appendix 3 - 2018/19 Audit Recommendations Implementation

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requires the Council to “undertake 
an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, 
control and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal 
auditing standards or guidance”. In accordance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards, the Audit Manager must report periodically to the Audit 
Committee on the internal audit activity’s performance relative to its plan.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Committee note the progress information contained within this report.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The purpose of this report is to summarise current year performance 
information for the Council’s Internal Audit service for the 2019/20 financial 
year. This includes a breakdown of audits in progress and completed to date, 
the number and classification of recommendations made, agreed and where 
applicable, implemented by management.

Page 71

Agenda Item 8



3.2 All audit recommendations have been agreed, and to date no 2019/20 audit 
recommendations have yet become due for implementation. Where 
deficiencies in internal control have been identified and not corrected, Internal 
Audit are satisfied that they will be resolved in an appropriate manner and they 
will continue to monitor such cases. It should be noted that it is the 
responsibility of relevant Managers to implement agreed recommendations.

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The assurance provided by the work of Internal Audit informs the Annual 
Governance Statement and therefore helps to confirm effective use of financial 
and other resources to ensure value for money.  

5. Alternative Options

5.1 There are no options to consider.

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) and Chief Finance Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

None John Leak
Head of Audit
john.leak@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Page 72



6. Introduction

6.1 The purpose of this report is to summarise current year performance 
information for the Council’s Internal Audit service for the 2019/20 financial 
year. This includes a breakdown of audits in progress and completed to date, 
the number and classification of recommendations made, agreed and where 
applicable, implemented by management.

6.2 The work of the internal audit service is primarily based upon an annual risk 
assessed audit plan, which for the financial year 2019/20 was agreed by this 
Committee at the 6th June 2019 meeting. The Internal Audit service also carry 
out work outside of the audit plan for which a contingency is usually built in. 
This unplanned work consists mainly of internal control consultancy work and 
special investigations into suspected fraud and irregularity.

7. Audits Reports Issued & Status of Agreed Recommendations

7.1 A summary of the Audit Reports issued during the period 1st April 2019 to 
30th September 2019 is shown in the table below. Further details of these 
audits outlining key issues and strengths and improvements are shown in 
Appendix 1.

RecommendationsService Audit
High 
Risk

Medium 
Risk

Low 
Risk

Assurance

Finance & 
Procurement

Housing Rents 0 0 0 Substantial

Finance & 
Procurement

Civica Shared 
Services Data 
Breaches

0 4 3 Limited

Finance & 
Procurement / 
Housing & 
Benefits

BACS 
Transmissions

0 2 3 Satisfactory

Organisational 
Development & 
Transformation

Sickness & Time 
Management

0 1 11 Satisfactory

Finance & 
Procurement

Bank Contract 0 0 2 Substantial

Executive 
Director 
(People)

Safeguarding 0 2 7 Satisfactory

7.2 A further breakdown of all of the audits in progress and completed during the 
current financial year including the current status of audit recommendations is 
detailed in Appendix 2.  All audit recommendations have been agreed, and to 
date no 2019/20 audit recommendations have yet become due for 
implementation. Where deficiencies in internal control have been identified 
and not corrected, Internal Audit are satisfied that they will be resolved in an 

Page 73



appropriate manner and they will continue to monitor such cases. It should be 
noted that it is the responsibility of relevant Managers to implement agreed 
recommendations.

7.3 The committee will note that in addition to every individual audit 
recommendation being allocated a risk, every audit completed has been given 
an ‘assurance opinion’ based upon Internal Audit’s assessment of the internal 
control environment. These assurance opinions inform the annual audit 
opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s internal 
control environment. The control levels are defined as follows:

Control Level Definition
Substantial There is a robust framework of controls designed to achieve 

the objectives and controls are consistently applied.
Satisfactory There is a sufficient framework of controls which for the most 

part, are consistently applied.  However, weakness in the 
design or inconsistent application of controls within a few 
areas put achievement of particular objectives at risk.

Limited Weaknesses in the system or the level of non compliance 
with controls in a number of areas are such to put the 
system objectives at risk.

Unsatisfactory There is a significant breakdown in the framework of 
controls, which leaves the system open to significant abuse 
or error.

7.4 Appendix 3 is a summary of recommendations made in the previous financial 
year 2018/19 implemented to date. This information will keep Councillors 
informed of progress made to ensure that all previous year audit 
recommendations are implemented. Due dates for implementation of some 
previous year recommendations will fall into 2019/20 and beyond depending 
on when the audit was carried out so this appendix will show when those 
recommendations become due for implementation. In due course, all 
recommendations will fall due and it will be possible to clearly identify which 
recommendations have not been implemented.

7.5 To date 99% of 2018/19 audit recommendations that are due have been 
implemented. Where deficiencies in internal control have been identified and 
not corrected, Internal Audit are satisfied that they will be resolved in an 
appropriate manner and they will continue to monitor such cases.  It should be 
noted that it is the responsibility of relevant Managers to implement agreed 
recommendations.

8 Audits In Progress

8.1 The status of audits that are currently in progress is shown in the table below.

Page 74



Service Audit Status
Assets Assets & 

Facilities
Audit Complete. Management response.

Assistant Chief 
Executive

Health & Safety Audit Complete. Management response.

Housing & Benefits Housing Tenancy 
Allocation

Audit Complete. Quality control stage.

Legal & Election 
Services

Housing Right to 
Buy

Audit in Progress.

Environmental 
Health

Taxi Licensing Audit in Progress.

Finance & 
Procurement

Procurement Audit in Progress.

Finance & 
Procurement

Insurance Audit in Progress.

Democratic & 
Community 
Services

Member Services Audit in Progress.

Assets Parking Audit in Progress.

Regeneration Tourism Audit in Progress.

9. Progress against Audit Plan

9.1 The 2019/20 financial year has seen steady progress against planned audits 
and all of the audits in progress or nearing completion as detailed in 6.3 above 
will be completed soon. It is anticipated at this stage that a satisfactory year 
end position will be achieved.

9.2 Current key progress information is summarised in the following table, 
excluding unplanned work unless otherwise stated:

Summary Progress Information to 30th September 2019
Percentage of Audit Plan completed / substantially completed 21%
Percentage of Audit Plan In Progress 20%
Number of recommendations made (including unplanned work) 35
Percentage of recommendations agreed with Service Managers 
(including unplanned work)

100%

Percentage of recommendations implemented within agreed 
timescale (including unplanned work)

N/A

Page 75



9.3 Should recommendations have not been agreed, compensating controls exist 
or service managers have accepted the risk / inefficiency of the current system 
for the benefit of service delivery.

Page 76



APPENDIX 1

AUDIT REPORTS ISSUED BETWEEN 1st APRIL 2019 &
30th SEPTEMBER 2019

Housing Rents
Assurance Level

Assurance: SUBSTANTIAL
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide substantial assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed.

Key Findings

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements
 The rent debit was correctly calculated and 

applied to the OHMS system.
 Rent decrease letters were sent out within 

the required deadline, ensuring that tenants 
were given 28 days notice prior to the 
increase on 2nd April 2018. 

 Cash received as per the income 
management system is regularly reconciled 
to the OHMS rent system.

 Rent performance outturn figures for the 
2018/19 financial year met the target of 
98.5%.

 Rents received/refunds reached customer 
accounts promptly.

Summary of Recommendations

An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below: 

High Medium LowDescription
R A R A R A

None
Total

Page 77



APPENDIX 1

Civica Shared Services Data Breaches
Assurance Level

Assurance: LIMITED
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide limited assurance that 
risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and Objectives 
section of this report are adequately managed.

Key Findings

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements
 For all future projects, detailed instructions 

should be issued for all system changes 
and testing should be carried out within a 
test environment, to identify any anomalies 
and ensure outcomes are as expected prior 
to live systems being amended.

 Further testing should be undertaken to 
confirm the accuracy of any ‘external 
addresses’ allocated to Civica accounts.

 A documented procedure for adding / 
amending and removing ‘external 
addresses’ to Civica accounts should be 
developed and made available to all 
relevant staff.

 GDPR training has recently been issued to 
all relevant staff which contained 
information regarding the identification and 
reporting of data breaches.

Summary of Recommendations

An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below: 

High Medium LowDescription
R A R A R A

Project Documentation 1 2
External Addresses 3
Document Retention 1
Total 4 3

Page 78



APPENDIX 1

BACS Transmissions
Assurance Level

Assurance: SATISFACTORY
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed.

Key Findings

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements
 The user access level for the APT and 

BACS Payment Services systems should 
be reviewed to ensure that an appropriate 
segregation of duties is maintained and 
administrator duties are limited to a 
minimum number of staff at an appropriate 
level.

 Transmission processes are consistent 
across the Alliance.

 Password controls have been improved on 
the APT system.

Summary of Recommendations

An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below: 

High Medium LowDescription
R A R A R A

System Access 2
Submission limits 1
Access to BACS Files 2
Total 2 3

Page 79



APPENDIX 1

Sickness & Time Management
Assurance Level

Assurance: SATISFACTORY
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed.

Key Findings

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements
 A comprehensive record of hours worked 

should be completed and monitored for all 
employees.

 Increased variety of flexible working options 
available to employees.

 Annual leave entitlements accurately 
calculated.

Summary of Recommendations

An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below: 

High Medium LowDescription
R A R A R A

Reporting of Sickness Absence 3 1
Timesheets 1 1
Annual Leave 2
Flexible Working 2 1
Payment of Suppliers 1
Total 1 9 2

Page 80



APPENDIX 1

Bank Contract
Assurance Level

Assurance: SUBSTANTIAL
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide substantial assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed.

Key Findings

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements
 All monthly/quarterly charges are now 

monitored at some level, which is an 
improvement since the previous 2016/17 
audit.

 A credit balance is always maintained on 
the bank account(s) with the overnight 
balance being automatically transferred to 
an interest bearing account.  

 A review of card service provision has been 
carried out; and a review of banking 
arrangements is currently underway. These 
reviews will identify any potential savings, 
increased efficiencies and enhancement of 
service provision going forward.

Summary of Recommendations

An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below: 

High Medium LowDescription
R A R A R A

Allpay Agreement 1
Transaction Charges 1
Total 2

Page 81



APPENDIX 1

Safeguarding
Assurance Level

Assurance: SATISFACTORY
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed.

Key Findings

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements
 Safeguarding discussions / checks should 

be included as part of the contract 
management procedures for all relevant 
contracts, with evidence being regularly 
received from the contractor to confirm 
appropriate training, DBS checks etc.

 Safeguarding controls/checks should be 
implemented within the application 
process for organisations wishing to hold 
events within Council owned public 
places.

 Advanced safeguarding training has been 
provided to relevant staff.

 The Safeguarding Policies have been 
recently reviewed and updated.

Summary of Recommendations

An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below: 

High Medium LowDescription
R A R A R A

Intranet 1
Safeguarding Referrals 1 1
Training 3
Contractor / External Organisation 
Checks

2

Disclosure & Barring Service 1
Total 2 5 2

 

Page 82



APPENDIX 2
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL INTERNAL AUDIT – 2019/20 PROGRESS INFORMATION AS AT 30th SEPTEMBER 2019

AUDIT TOTAL 
RECOMMENDATIONS

HIGH RISK
RECOMMENDATIONS

MEDIUM RISK
RECOMMENDATIONS

LOW RISK
RECOMMENDATIONS

ASSURANCE OPINION / 
COMMENTS

Regulatory Added 
value

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed)

Due to 
date

Actioned 
to date

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed)

Due to 
date

Actioned 
to date

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed)

Due to 
date

Actioned 
to date

Assets & Facilities Management Response
Housing Rents 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Substantial
Civica SharedServices Data 
Breaches

7 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 3 0 0 Limited

Health & Safety Management Response
BACS Transmissions 5 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 3 0 0 Satisfactory
Sickness & Time Management 10 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 11 0 0 Satisfactory
Bank Contract 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 Substantial
Housing Right to Buy Audit in Progress
Housing Tenancy Allocation Quality Control Stage
Taxi Licensing Audit in Progress
Safeguarding 7 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 7 0 0 Satisfactory
Procurement Audit in Progress
Insurance Audit in Progress
Member Services Audit in Progress
Parking Audit in Progress
Tourism Audit in Progress
TOTAL RECOMMENDATIONS 35 0 9 26
ACTION TAKEN TO DATE 0 0 0 0 0 0

Key:
Risk Class
High Significant control weakness / inefficiency exists with a high likelihood of occurring, potentially 

causing a breach of legislation / legal requirements and/or a substantial loss or damage to Council 
assets, information and reputation.  Considered essential to implement recommendation promptly.

Regulatory To ensure the integrity of internal controls and/or compliance with Regulations / 
Policies and Procedures. 

Medium Control weakness / inefficiency exists with a moderate likelihood of occurring, potentially causing a 
breach of organisational policies and procedures, loss or damage to Council assets, information 
and reputation.  Considered essential to implement recommendation to ensure adequate system 
controls / necessary improvement in service provision.

Added 
Value

Intended as an enhancement to the existing system which may provide a benefit 
to either the user or the customer.

Low Minor control weakness / inefficiency exists with a minimal impact on the Council assets, 
information and reputation.  Considered necessary to implement recommendation to provide 
management with additional assurance regarding the adequacy of system controls / improvement 
in service provision.

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL INTERNAL AUDIT – 2018/19 AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS IMPLEMENTATION

AUDIT TOTAL 
RECOMMENDATIONS

HIGH RISK
RECOMMENDATIONS

MEDIUM RISK
RECOMMENDATIONS

LOW RISK
RECOMMENDATIONS

ASSURANCE OPINION / 
COMMENTS

Regulatory Added 
value

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed)

Due to 
date

Actioned 
to date

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed)

Due to 
date

Actioned 
to date

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed)

Due to 
date

Actioned 
to date

Pest Control & Animal Welfare 8 2 0 0 0 1 1 1 9 9 9 Satisfactory
VAT 7 1 0 0 0 1 1 1 7 4 4 Satisfactory
Housing Rents 2 2 0 0 0 2 2 2 2 1 1 Satisfactory
Commercial Properties 10 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 10 6 6 Satisfactory
Media & Communications 5 3 0 0 0 1 1 1 7 6 6 Satisfactory
Leisure Contract Management 9 2 0 0 0 2 2 2 9 9 9 Satisfactory
Transparency Code 2015 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 2 2 Satisfactory
Markets 3 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 3 3 3 Satisfactory
Community Safety 5 2 0 0 0 3 3 3 4 4 4 Satisfactory
Housing Agency 7 1 0 0 0 1 1 1 7 6 6 Satisfactory
On-line Payments & Misc Income 6 6 0 0 0 1 1 1 11 11 11 Satisfactory
Electoral Registration 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 11 11 Satisfactory
Building Control 12 3 0 0 0 5 1 1 10 1 1 Limited
Ethics & Culture 4 5 0 0 0 1 1 1 8 5 5 Satisfactory
Enforcement 9 2 0 0 0 3 3 3 8 1 1 Satisfactory
Risk Management 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 Substantial
ICT Asset Management 7 1 0 0 0 1 1 1 7 6 6 Satisfactory
Pollution 11 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 1 1 Satisfactory
Capital Accounting 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Substantial
Sundry Debtors 3 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 4 4 Satisfactory
Housing Stock Management 3 0 0 0 0 2 1 1 1 0 0 Satisfactory
Housing Repairs & Maintenance 10 2 0 0 0 3 0 0 9 6 6 Satisfactory
Budgetary Control 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Substantial
Purchasing Cards 8 3 0 0 0 2 0 0 9 0 0 Satisfactory
Treasury Management 5 0 0 0 0 2 2 2 3 0 0 Satisfactory
NNDR 4 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 3 0 0 Satisfactory
General Data Protection Regulation 23 2 0 0 0 4 1 1 21 8 8 Satisfactory
Council Tax 10 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 8 0 0 Satisfactory
Creditor Payments 3 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 2 0 0 Satisfactory
Payroll 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 Satisfactory
Housing Benefits 13 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 13 0 0 Satisfactory
Housing Strategy 10 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 9 1 1 Satisfactory
Recovery 3 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 Satisfactory
General Ledger 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Substantial
TOTAL RECOMMENDATIONS 274 0 46 228
ACTION TAKEN TO DATE 0 0 24 23 106 106

Key:
Risk Class
High Significant control weakness / inefficiency exists with a high likelihood of occurring, potentially 

causing a breach of legislation / legal requirements and/or a substantial loss or damage to Council 
assets, information and reputation.  Considered essential to implement recommendation promptly.

Regulatory To ensure the integrity of internal controls and/or compliance with Regulations / 
Policies and Procedures. 

Medium Control weakness / inefficiency exists with a moderate likelihood of occurring, potentially causing a 
breach of organisational policies and procedures, loss or damage to Council assets, information 
and reputation.  Considered essential to implement recommendation to ensure adequate system 
controls / necessary improvement in service provision.

Added 
Value

Intended as an enhancement to the existing system which may provide a benefit 
to either the user or the customer.

Low Minor control weakness / inefficiency exists with a minimal impact on the Council assets, 
information and reputation.  Considered necessary to implement recommendation to provide 
management with additional assurance regarding the adequacy of system controls / improvement 
in service provision.

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Audit & Regulatory Committee

23 October 2019

TITLE: Review of Polling Places and Polling 
Stations

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Barrow - Executive Councillor for 
Corporate Services and Finance

CONTACT OFFICER: Angela Sherratt – Senior Elections Officer

WARDS INVOLVED: All Wards

Appendices attached:-
Appendix A: Polling District Review  - no proposed changes
Appendix B: Polling District Review – no proposed changes following consultation 

responses
Appendix C: Polling District Review – proposed changes to policy arrangements

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 The Representation of the People Act 1983 requires the Council to 
periodically review its polling places and polling stations. The Council’s 
previous review was undertaken in 2014. 

1.2 This report explains the findings of the current review and makes 
recommendations in respect of proposed changes. Any changes to polling 
stations as a result of this review will not come into force until the Police 
and Crime Commissioner Elections in May 2020.

2. Recommendation

2.1 It is recommended that:

i) The Committee approves the proposals setting out changes to 
polling districts, polling places and polling stations as detailed at 
Appendix C of the report, subject to there being no adverse 
comments received from the publication of the Returning 
Officer’s recommendations.   

ii) The revised arrangements take effect from 7th May 2020.  

Page 87

Agenda Item 9



3. Executive Summary

3.1 The Council must designate a polling place for every polling district. In 
determining where polling places should be located, the Council must 
attempt to ensure that all electors have such reasonable facilities for 
voting as are practical in the circumstances and that, so far as is 
reasonable and practical, polling places are accessible to electors, 
including those who are disabled.  Each polling station in the Borough 
has been reviewed in accordance with these statutory requirements. 

3.2 The review has been informed by information gathered from Presiding 
Officers and Polling Station Inspectors who were on duty at the 
previous two elections. In addition we have consulted elected members, 
members of the public and local access groups.

3.3 The Returning Officer for elections, the MP and MEP’s have been 
consulted on the proposed changes. The Returning Officer’s comments 
are included in the appendices. Where changes are proposed, 
additional consultation with the affected ward members has been 
undertaken. The Returning Officer’s final proposals have been 
published and the deadline for receipt of further comments is 18th 
November 2019.  

 
3.4 The changes which are proposed as a result of the review of the 

consultation exercise are set out at Appendix C. The arrangements will 
continue to be reviewed periodically and further formal reviews will take 
place every five years. 

  

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The proposals within the report help to support the environment by 
enabling residents to vote at suitable, accessible facilities in the 
interests of the democratic process.  

5.       Options and Analysis

5.1 The options for proposed changes are found within the report and 
appendices. The Committee could decide not to support the proposed 
changes. The changes have been proposed after reviewing the 
responses to extensive consultation with relevant stakeholders and are 
recommend to improve residents’ experience of electoral participation. 

5.2 If the Committee decides to support the recommendations it will assist 
the electoral services team to administer the next scheduled election 
effectively and will improve residents’ experience of engagement with 
the electoral process.      

Page 88



6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)

No implications.

6.2 Workforce

No implications.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's 
Diversity and Equality Policies.

6.4 Financial Considerations

None directly.

6.5 Legal

Under Section 18 of the Representation of the People Act 1983, 
the Council must review its polling places and stations every 5 
years. The previous review was undertaken in 2014. The review 
supports the Council’s legal duty to promote equality of access to 
services.  

6.6 Sustainability

No implications.

6.7 Internal and External Consultation

A full consultation exercise has been undertaken ahead of 
analysing the options which are found in the appendices. 

6.8 Risk Assessment

All buildings have been risk assessed.

7.        Background and Detail

7.1 Each relevant local authority in the United Kingdom must designate a 
polling place for each polling district in the Parliamentary constituency. 
The polling place is usually a building within the polling district and the 
polling station is usually within the polling place.  It is the duty of the 
Returning Officer to provide a sufficient number of polling stations and 
allot the electors to those polling stations in such manner as he or she 
thinks the most convenient. Section 18 of the Representation of the 

7.4

Page 89



People Act 1983 requires these arrangements to be reviewed every 5 
years. The previous review took place in 2014.   

7.2 There are a number of changes that have taken place since the last 
formal polling station review as a result of buildings becoming 
unavailable in the intervening period. In Glossop, Zion Methodist 
Church has closed. Residents in ward HT4 were moved to the polling 
station at the Scout Hut, Pikes Lane, Glossop and residents in ward SI3 
were moved to Simmondley School, Glossop.

7.3 The Peak Dale Methodist Church has closed and the polling station 
moved to The Great Rocks Club, Peak Dale. Fernilee Methodist Church 
has closed and the residents in ward WB2 have moved to Holy Trinity 
Church to vote alongside residents in ward WB1 who already vote at 
that location.

7.4 The polling station on Newshaw Lane, Glossop has been demolished 
and a new building at Glossopdale School is now used as the polling 
station for HS2 and HS4. The Rising Sun public house has closed and 
a new location at Glenbrook Activity Centre, Hope Road, Bamford is 
now used. The new locations for these stations have been reviewed as 
part of this process and there are no changes to these locations 
proposed.

7.5 In respect of the wider review of polling stations, a notice of review was 
published on the council’s website on the 12th August 2019 together 
with documents made available for inspection in Buxton Town Hall. This 
has allowed councillors and members of the public to access 
background information in respect of the proposals within this report 
and to enable the Council to understand the views of members and 
residents. The closing date for comments was 23rd September 2019. 

7.6 As a result of the consultation process the Council has received the 
following representations: 

 Two of the Ward Councillors for Chapel West and a member of the 
public submitted comments concerning Blackbrook Ward stating that 
the residents on Crossings Road and Manchester Road which are 
situated between Chapel-en-le-Frith and Blackbrook would prefer to 
vote in Chapel West at the Playhouse, Chapel-en-le-Frith. 
Comments individuals were also received regarding the Councillor 
numbers, boundaries and size of electorate within these areas.

 A resident within the Chapel West Ward commented on the size of 
the Wards, as Chapel West is larger than Chapel East and 
suggested that the numbers are made equal to enable some of the 
current Chapel West electorate to vote in Chapel East. Comments 
were also made regarding the lack of parking at the Playhouse, 
Chapel-en-le-Frith and the numbers of people who stand outside the 
main door, making it very intimidating to enter the station.

Page 90



 A Ward Councillor for Limestone Peak ward submitted comments 
regarding an anomaly in Small Dale where one side of the road 
votes in Peak Dale and the other side in Peak Forest and suggested 
similar problems at the end of Hallsteads where one cottage votes in 
Dove Holes and the remaining four cottages vote in Peak Forest.

 The Council received comments about the current arrangements for 
Old Glossop, ward, OG4 due to the inaccessibility of Pyegrove 
Tennis Club. The preferred option in respect of OG4 is therefore to 
use the Mobile Building, Off Shirebrook Drive where Old Glossop 
(OG3) currently vote.

 Comments have been received regarding the use of Simmondley 
Primary School as a polling station and requests that alternative 
locations be used to remove the requirement for the school to close 
when an election is called.

Analysis of all the representations received, together with details of the 
recommendations following that analysis, is contained in Appendices B 
and C attached to the report.

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/4526/Review-of-
Polling-District-Polling-Places-and-Polling-Stations

Angela Sherratt
Senior Elections Officer
angela.sherratt@highpeak.gov.uk

Page 91

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/4526/Review-of-Polling-District-Polling-Places-and-Polling-Stations
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/4526/Review-of-Polling-District-Polling-Places-and-Polling-Stations


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

BUXTON CENTRAL WARD

REPORT

Polling Station St Anne’s Parish Centre
Hardwick Square West
Buxton

Serving Polling Districts CT1, CT2, CT3

Number of Polling 
Stations

3 (Triple Station)

Number of voters 2956 in total
CT1 1803, CT2 608, CT3 545

Physical Accessibility Very good condition, small car park, but no designated 
disabled parking. Level access to polling station.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Satisfactory

Is the location convenient 
to voters

Central location for all three polling districts, although not 
situated in actual polling districts for CT2 and CT3

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments received as part of the consultation process

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 93



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

CORBAR WARD

REPORT

Polling Station St John’s Church, St John’s Road, Buxton
St Anne’s Primary School, Lightwood Road, Buxton

Serving Polling Districts CO1, CO2, CO3

Number of Polling 
Stations

3 (St John’s is a double station)

Number of voters 3198
CO1 556, CO2 1768, CO3 874

Physical Accessibility St John’s Church – the pathway is made up of large stone 
flags that are uneven and could be slippery due to moss 
from the nearby trees.  Car park in reasonable condition, 
although no designated disabled parking.  A HPBC ramp is 
in place at entrance at St John’s Road, there is a wooden 
ramp at the possible alternative entrance which would need 
to be replaced with a metal ramp.

St Anne’s Primary School – the pathway condition is tarmac 
and in excellent condition. Car parking available about 500 
yards from entrance, no designated disabled parking.  

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

St John’s Church – all facilities are satisfactory

St Anne’s Primary School – all facilities are satisfactory

Is the location convenient 
to voters

St John’s Church – the polling station is central to both 
polling districts even though it is situated in CO2

St. Anne’s Primary School – the polling station is central to 
the polling district

Any recent major 
development

60 Units, Sheltered Housing, Brown Edge Road.

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments received as part of the consultation process.

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements.

Page 94



Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 95



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

DINTING WARD

REPORT

Polling Station The Army Cadet Headquarters, Fauvel Road, Glossop
The Guide Hut, Dinting Vale

Serving Polling Districts DI1, DI2, DI3, DI4

Number of Polling 
Stations

2 

Number of voters 1822
DI1 297, DI2 1364, DI3 143, DI4 18

Physical Accessibility Army Cadet HQ - Excellent. Car park in front of entrance 
door, although not marked specifically for disabled. Level 
access for disabled.

Guide Building – Car Parking available although not 
specifically marked for disabled.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Army Cadet HQ - The facilities for staff are satisfactory.

The Guide Building – The facilities are satisfactory

Is the location convenient 
to voters

Army Cadet HQ- The polling station is positioned in DI2, but 
is central to both DI1 and DI2

The Guide Building – The Polling station is Positioned in DI3 
but is convenient for DI4

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

Proposed development of 65 residential houses on land 
South of Dinting Road

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments have been received as part of the 
consultation process.

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements.

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 96



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

GAMESLEY WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Geoffrey Allen Centre, Winster Mews, Gamesley

Serving Polling Districts GA1, HS3, SJ5

Number of Polling 
Stations

3 or 4 depending on the election

Number of voters 1741 for GA1
(HS3 428, SJ5 102)

Physical Accessibility The pathway is in good condition, and there is disabled 
parking and a ramp made from concrete which is adequate.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

The facilities are satisfactory.

Is the location convenient 
to voters

The polling station is in a central location for GA1 and is 
convenient for HS3 and SJ5 although not situated in those 
polling districts

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments received as part of the consultation process

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 97



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

HADFIELD NORTH WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Hadfield County Infants School, Mersey Bank Road, 
Hadfield

Serving Polling Districts HN1, HN2

Number of Polling 
Stations

1

Number of voters 1729

Physical Accessibility Pathway is excellent. Car park with designated disabled 
parking. Permanent ramp / slope in good condition for 
disabled / alternative access.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Facilities are satisfactory.

Is the location convenient 
to voters

Polling station is conveniently close to the centre of the 
population.

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments have been received as part of the 
consultation process.

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements.

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 98



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

HADFIELD SOUTH WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Geoffrey Allen Centre, Winster Mews, Gamesley
The Place, Glossopdale School, Newshaw Lane, Hadfield
The Parenting Room, Hadfield Childrens Centre, Off Queen 
Street, Hadfield

Serving Polling Districts (GA1), (SJ5), HS1 HS2, HS3, HS4

Number of Polling 
Stations

4 (2 for HS1, 1 for HS2 & HS4, 1 for HS3) 

Number of Voters 3412 (HS1 2007, HS2 943, HS3 462)

Physical Accessibility Geoffrey Allen Centre - Pathway is good.  There is disabled 
parking and a ramp made from concrete which is adequate.

The Place, Glossopdale School – condition of pathway is 
good. There is no designated disabled parking in the car 
park, and cars can also pull up outside the centre.  Ramp 
access into the building which is in excellent condition.

The Parenting Room – pathway is tarmac and in excellent 
condition. Car park is available, with limited parking at 
school times, no designated disabled parking. There is a 
ramp in excellent condition.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Geoffrey Allen Centre – facilities are satisfactory

The Place, Glossopdale School – well equipped room

Parenting Room – insufficient lighting, extra provided.

Is the location convenient 
to voters

Geoffrey Allen Centre – The polling station is in a central 
location for GA1 and is convenient for HS3 and SJ5 
although not situated in those districts

The Place, Glossopdale School – the polling station is 
reasonably convenient, although is not situated in the polling 
district

Parenting Room – the polling station is convenient to voters.
  

Any recent major 
development

No

Page 99



Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments have been received as part of the 
consultation process.

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 100



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

HAYFIELD WARD

REPORT

Polling Station St Matthews Church Hall, Church Street, Hayfield

Serving Polling Districts HA1, SE1

Number of Polling 
Stations

3 

Number of voters HA1 1659 
(SE1 542)

Physical Accessibility Pathway is good. Car parking and on-road parking is 
approximately 100 yards from polling station.  There is a 
permanent ramp which is suitable for disabled access.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

The facilities are satisfactory for staff.

Is the location convenient 
to voters

The polling station is situated in HA1 and is convenient to 
the electorate as it is in the centre of the village.  Not quite 
as convenient for SE1 as they have to cross a major road.

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments were received as part of the consultation 
process.

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 101



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

HOPE VALLEY WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Moore Memorial Hall, Brentwood Road, Bamford
The Reading Room, Tideswell Road, Peak Forest
Glenbrook Outdoor Activity Centre, Bamford
St Henrys Community Centre, Derwent, Bamford
Castleton Village Hall, How Lane, Castleton
Edale Village Hall, Edale
Loxley Hall, Market Place, Hope

Serving Polling Districts HV1, HV2, HV3, HV4, HV5, HV6, HV7, HV8, HV9, HV10

Number of Polling 
Stations

7

Number of voters 3140 in total
HV1 991, HV2 133, HV3 34, HV4 38, HV5 119, HV6 500, 
HV7 258, HV8 730, HV9 72, HV10 265

Physical Accessibility Moore Memorial Hall – pathway is in good condition.  There 
is no car park and parking is on the road.  There is a tarmac 
ramp sloping down to the entrance to provide disabled 
access.

The Reading Room – pathway is flagged and is in good 
condition.  There is a car park, but no designated disabled 
parking.  There is a ramp which is in good condition to 
provide disabled access.

Glenbrook Outdoor Activity Centre– the pathway is in good 
condition.  There is a car park with parking at the door.  The 
access into the polling station is good.

St Henry’s Community Centre – there is a gravel path with a 
number of steps.  No car parking, on-road parking only.  
There is a ramp at the side entrance, but it is very steep and 
not really suitable, and the alternative entrance is not 
accessible.

Castleton Village Hall – pathway is in excellent condition. 
Small car park, but on-road parking. There is a permanent 
ramp which is in good condition to provide disabled access.

Edale Village Hall – the pathway is in good condition.  
Disabled car parking is available.  A ramp is in place to 
provide disabled access, which is in good condition.

Loxley Hall – the pathway is cobbles and tarmac and is in 
reasonable condition.  There is a mixture of on road parking 

Page 102



and a parking area marked out with 1 disabled space and 
parking for about 5 cars.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Moore Memorial Hall – facilities are satisfactory

The Reading Room – facilities are satisfactory

Glenbrook Outdoor Activity Centre – facilities are 
satisfactory

St Henry’s Community Centre – facilities are satisfactory

Castleton Village Hall – facilities are satisfactory

Edale Village Centre – facilities are satisfactory

Loxley Hall – facilities are satisfactory

Is the location convenient 
to voters

Moore Memorial Hall – the polling station is central to the 
polling district

The Reading Room – the polling station is central in a very 
rural area

Glenbrook Outdoor Activity Centre– the polling station is in 
HV2, and as the houses are spread it is difficult to get a 
central location.  It is in the centre of both pockets of the 
population for HV5 and HV2

St Henry’s Community Centre – the polling station is 
convenient for the electorate, and it would be difficult to find 
a more suitable location in such a rural location.

Castleton Village Hall – the polling station is central to the 
village

Edale Village Centre – the polling station is central to the 
village

Loxley Hall – the polling station is central to the village – 
whilst not as convenient for HV9, it would be difficult to find 
somewhere more convenient.

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments have been received as part of the 
consultation process.

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements.

Page 103



Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 104



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

HOWARD TOWN WARD

REPORT

Polling Station The Scout Hut, Pikes Lane, Glossop
St Luke’s Church, Glossop
Bradbury Community House, Market Street, Glossop

Serving Polling Districts HT1, HT2, HT3 HT4 

Number of Polling 
Stations

4 (The Scout Hut is a double Station)

Number of voters 3527 
HT1 1905, HT2 669, HT3 792, HT4 161

Physical Accessibility The Scout Hut – the condition of the pavement is good.  
Parking is on-road, there are no car parking facilities.  A 
ramp is in place which is in good condition.

St Luke’s Church – the condition of the pavement is good.  
On road parking available.  

Bradbury Community House – condition of the pathway is 
good.  Car parking on Municipal Car Park 25 yards away. 
Level access so no ramp needed.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

The Scout Hut – the facilities are satisfactory

St Luke’s Church– the facilities are satisfactory 

Bradbury Community House – excellent accommodation 
with very helpful staff.  

Is the location convenient 
to voters

The Scout Hut – the polling station is central to the polling 
district.

St Luke’s Church– the polling station is within easy reach of 
the majority of the electorate

Bradbury Community House – the polling station is 
reasonably convenient, although is not in the polling district

Any recent major 
development

No

Page 105



Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments have been received as part of the 
consultation process.

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements.

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 106



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

NEW MILLS EAST WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Methodist Church, Low Leighton, High Hill Road, New Mills
St Georges Parish Hall, Church Lane, New Mills

Serving Polling Districts NE1, NE2, NE3/1. NE3/2. NW2, SE2, SE6

Number of Polling 
Stations

5

Number of voters 3107
NE1 993, NE2 713, NE3 1401
(NW2 318 SE2 102 SE6 23)

Physical Accessibility Methodist Church, Low Leighton – pathway is in excellent 
condition with a tarmac surface.  Limited car parking space, 
disabled drivers can pull up to the door and use the 
alternative access. Two ramps, one inside and one outside, 
provided by HPBC, and a ramp is also required for the 
alternate access.

St Georges Parish Hall – pathway is in good condition. Car 
parking is by the front door, no markings for disabled drivers.  
A ramp is in place to provide disabled access.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Methodist Church – facilities are satisfactory

St George’s Parish Hall – kitchen facilities are adequate.

Is the location convenient 
to voters

Methodist Church, Low Leighton – the polling station is 
situated in NE1 and is closest to the largest area of housing 
/ population.  Those in SE2 have to travel quite a distance, 
but it is straightforward route along a main road.

St Georges Parish Hall – the polling station is central to all 
three polling districts, although situated in NW2.

Any recent major 
development

No

Page 107



Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments have been received as part of the 
consultation process.

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements 

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 108



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

NEW MILLS WEST WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Newtown Primary School, Buxton Road, New Mills
New Mills Town Hall, New Mills
Hague Bar Primary School, Lower Hague, New Mills
St George’s Parish Hall, Church Lane, New Mills

Serving Polling Districts NW1, NW2, NW3, NW5/1, NW5/2, NW4, SE5

Number of Polling 
Stations

6 

Number of voters 3425 in total
NW1 748, NW2 318, NW3 141, NW4 274, NW5 1944
(SE5 545)

Physical Accessibility Newtown Primary School – pathway is tarmac and in 
excellent condition.  There is a car park at the front of the 
building, with no designated disabled parking.  There is level 
access into the main hall or ramp access into a classroom.

New Mills Town Hall – the pathway is flagged.  There is 
designated car parking for people with disabilities.  There is 
level access into the polling station.

Hague Bar Primary School – pathway is tarmac and in 
excellent condition.  The polling station entrance is on the 
car park which also has designated disabled parking.  There 
is level access into the polling station.

St George’s Parish Hall – the pathway is in good condition.  
There is a car park at the front door, with no markings for 
disabled drivers.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Newtown Primary School – all facilities are satisfactory

New Mills Town Hall – all facilities are satisfactory

Hague Bar Primary School – all facilities are satisfactory

St George’s Parish Hall – all facilities are satisfactory

Is the location convenient 
to voters

Newtown Primary School – the polling station is reasonably 
central within the polling district

New Mills Town Hall – the polling station is located centrally 
for all three polling stations, and is situated in NW5

Page 109



Hague Bar Primary School – the polling station is convenient 
for voters, and serves both sides of the road

St George’s Parish Hall – the polling station is central to the 
three polling districts and is located in NW2

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments have been received as part of the 
consultation process

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 110



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

PADFIELD WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Hadfield Hall, Station Road, Hadfield
Padfield County Primary School, Rhodes Street, Padfield

Serving Polling Districts PA1, PA2

Number of Polling 
Stations

2

Number of voters 1857
PA1 916, PA2 875

Physical Accessibility Hadfield Hall – the condition of the pathway is good.  There 
is no parking and it is on a very busy main road.  Level 
access into polling station.

Padfield Primary School – the pathway is in excellent 
condition. A car park is outside the door, there is no 
designated disabled parking, and the disabled entrance is 
around the back of the building via a HPBC ramp.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Hadfield Hall – gets cold as heating goes off after 7 pm

Padfield Primary School – facilities are satisfactory

Is the location convenient 
to voters

Hadfield Hall – the polling station is reasonably convenient, 
and is close to the train station for people travelling to and 
from work and is on a main bus route

Padfield Primary School – the polling station is convenient 
as it is in the centre of the village

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments have been received as part of the 
consultation process.

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements.  Provide extra heating 
at Hadfield Hall if possible.

Page 111



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

SETT WARD

REPORT

Polling Station St Matthews Church Hall, Church Street, Hayfield
Methodist Church, Low Leighton, High Hill Road, New Mills
Thornsett Band Room, High Hill Road, Thornsett
The Children’s Inn, Rowarth, High Peak
New Mills Town Hall, New Mills

Serving Polling Districts NE1, HA1/1, HA1/2. NW3, NW5/1, NW5/2, SE1, SE2, SE3, 
SE4, SE5, SE6

Number of Polling 
Stations

10 
5 polling places

Number of voters 1615
SE1, 542 SE2 102, SE3 295, S4 108, 111, SE5 545, SE6 23
(NE1 993, NW3 141, NW5 1944)

Physical Accessibility St Matthews Church Hall – the pathway is in good condition.  
There is a car park with no designated disabled parking, 
together with on road parking. There is ramp access into the 
building.

Methodist Church – the pathway is in excellent condition 
with a tarmac surface.  There is car parking space for about 
6 cars, and disabled drivers can pull up to the door and use 
the alternative entrance.  Main entrance has two ramps, for 
an outside and inside step.

Thornsett Band Room – the pathway is tarmac and is in 
reasonable condition.  There is no car park, but plenty of on-
road parking.  Disabled drivers could park outside the front 
entrance. There is a ramp with a slight slope at the entrance.

Children’s Inn – the pathway is made up of flags and is well 
laid.  There is a car park, with no marked disabled spaces.  
Disabled drivers would be better parking in front of the 
building.  The path from the car park has an in-built ramp, 
and there is an HPBC ramp to provide disabled access.

New Mills Town Hall, New Mills – the pathway is flagged and 
there is designated parking for people with disabilities.  
There is level access into the polling station.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

St Matthews Church Hall – the facilities are satisfactory

Methodist Church – the facilities are satisfactory

Thornsett Band Room – the facilities are satisfactory

Page 112



Children’s Inn – the facilities are satisfactory

New Mills Town Hall – the facilities are satisfactory
Is the location convenient 
to voters

St Matthews Church Hall – the polling station is convenient 
for electors in HA1 as it is situated in the centre of the 
village, not quite as convenient for those in SE1 who have to 
cross a major road.

Methodist Church – the polling station is convenient to the 
largest area of housing / population, those in SE2 have to 
travel quite a distance along a main road.

Thornsett Band Room – the polling station is central to the 
majority of the population.

Children’s Inn – the polling station is situated on the main 
route in and out of the village, and is reasonably central in a 
rural area.

New Mills Town Hall – the polling station is situated in NW5 
but is centrally located for all three polling districts.

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments have been received as part of the 
consultation process.

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements.

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 113



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

ST JOHNS WARD

REPORT

Polling Station St Johns Church, Marple Road, Charlesworth
Meeting Room, Chisworth Methodist Church, Marple Road, 
Chisworth
Geoffrey Allen Centre, Winster Mews, Gamesley

Serving Polling Districts GA1, HS3, SJ1, SJ2, SJ3, SJ4, SJ5,

Number of Polling 
Stations

3 

Number of voters 1538
SJ1 1010, SJ2 144, SJ3 26, SJ4 256, SJ5 102
(GA1 1741, HS3 428)

Physical Accessibility St Johns Church, Marple Road, Charlesworth – there is a 
long drive down to the Church which is in excellent condition 
and is well lit at night.

Chisworth Methodist Church – the condition of the pathway 
is excellent and there is a car park with no designated 
disabled parking.  It is recommended that disabled drivers 
should park at the bottom end of the car park. There is level 
access into the polling station.

Geoffrey Allen Centre – the condition of the pathway is good 
and there is disabled parking.  There is level access to the 
polling station.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

St Johns Church – all facilities are satisfactory

Chisworth Methodist Church – all facilities are satisfactory

Geoffrey Allen Centre – all facilities are satisfactory

Is the location convenient 
to voters

St Johns Church, Marple Road, Charlesworth – the polling 
station is convenient as the Church is in the centre of the 
village

Chisworth Methodist Church – the polling station is central to 
the village on the main road

Geoffrey Allen Centre – the polling station is in a central 
location for GA1, and is also convenient for those in HS3 
and SJ5

Any recent major 
development

No

Page 114



Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments have been received as part of the 
consultation process.

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements.

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 115



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

STONE BENCH WARD

REPORT

Polling Station St Nicholas Hall, Victoria Park Road, Buxton

Serving Polling Districts SB1, SB2
SB1 1898, SB2 1305

Number of Polling 
Stations

2 stations

Number of voters 3203

Physical Accessibility Pathway is good. Car parking on site.  There is a tarmac 
ramp with railings in very good condition.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Facilities are satisfactory

Is the location convenient 
to voters

The polling station is positioned in SB1, but is central to both 
polling districts

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

Erection of 73 dwellings on land off Granby Road.

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments received as part of the consultation process.

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements.

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 116



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

TEMPLE WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Sports Pavilion, Opposite Buxton Community School, Green 
Lane, Buxton

Serving Polling Districts TE1, TE2

Number of Polling 
Stations

1

Number of voters 1813

Physical Accessibility The pathway is in good condition. There is a car park on site 
about 30 yards from the building and there is a ramp type 
access up the side of the building.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

No electrical mains point, no phone, no hot water to wash 
and no towels / dryer.

Is the location convenient 
to voters

The polling station is central in the polling district

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments received as part of the consultation process.

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 117



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

TINTWISTLE WARD

REPORT

Polling Station The Village Hall, Sexton Street, Tintwistle

Serving Polling Districts TI1, TI2, TI3

Number of Polling 
Stations

1

Number of voters 1622
(TI1 1122, TI2 26 TI3 474)

Physical Accessibility The pathway is in reasonable condition. Car park 15 yards 
from building, with no designated parking for the disabled.  
HPBC ramp used to improve access.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Facilities are adequate for the staff

Is the location convenient 
to voters

The polling station is very convenient for TI1 and TI2, but not 
as convenient for TI3 as have to travel up New Road.

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments received as part of the consultation process.

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements.  

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 118



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

WHALEY BRIDGE WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Holy Trinity Church, Buxton Road, Whaley Bridge
Furness Vale Social Club, Yeardsley Lane, Furness Vale
Uniting Church, Buxton Road, Whaley Bridge

Serving Polling Districts WB1, WB2, WB3, WB4/1, WB4/2, WB5

Number of Polling 
Stations

5 stations

Number of voters 5161
(WB1 1183, WB2 81, WB3 1000, WB4 1788, WB5 1109)

Physical Accessibility Holy Trinity Church – the condition of the pathway is 
reasonable.  There is a car park but is in poor condition and 
is some distance from the polling station with no designated 
disabled parking.  Disabled drivers would need to stop on 
the main road.  There is a ramp to allow disabled access 
into the polling station, which is in very good condition.

Furness Vale Social Club – the pathway is tarmac and in 
good condition.  There is parking space but belongs to a 
local restaurant and factory.  There is no disabled parking, 
but there are car parking spaces next to the ramp into the 
building.

Uniting Church – the pathway is in reasonable condition, but 
is uneven. There is a higher and a lower car park, with no 
designated disabled spaces.  There is a ramp access into 
the building which is in excellent condition.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Holy Trinity Church – the facilities are satisfactory

Furness Vale Social Club – the facilities are satisfactory

Uniting Church – the facilities are satisfactory

Is the location convenient 
to voters

Holy Trinity Church – the polling station is central to both 
polling districts

Furness Vale Social Club – the polling station is central in 
the polling district

Uniting Church – the polling station is outside of the polling 
district and is not convenient for the majority of voters.

Page 119



Any recent major 
development

107 new dwellings 

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments were received as part of the consultation 
process.

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements.

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 120



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

WHITFIELD WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Vibes Youth Centre, Ebenezer Street, Glossop

Serving Polling Districts WH1

Number of Polling 
Stations

1 

Number of voters 1728

Physical Accessibility Pathway is in good condition.  No car parking facilities, but 
on-road parking. There is a ramp for disabled access which 
is in very good condition.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

All facilities are satisfactory.

Is the location convenient 
to voters

The polling station is in the centre of the concentrated 
population within the polling district

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

Erection of 44 Unit Housing Scheme

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

No comments have been received as part of the 
consultation process.

DRO comments Continue with existing arrangements

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

BLACKBROOK WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Buxworth Primary School, Station Road, Buxworth (BL1, 
BL2)
Chinley Chapel, The Wash, Chinley (BL3)
Chinley & Buxworth Centre, 21 Lower Lane, Chinley (BL4)
Combs Infant School/Village Hall, Lesser Lane, Combs 
(BL5, BL6)
Victory Hall (BL7)

Serving Polling Districts BL1, BL2, BL3, BL4, BL5, BL6, BL7

Number of Polling 
Stations

5

Number of voters 3,531 in total
BL1 173, BL2 397, BL3 317, BL4 1347, BL5 591, BL6 414
BL7 278

Physical Accessibility Accessibility is good at Buxworth Primary School. There is 
one designated disabled parking space.  The class room is 
self-contained and access is directly into polling station all 
one level. 

Chinley Chapel is also very accessible with a new tarmac 
drive and the polling station is very close to the car park.

The Chinley and Buxworth Centre is very accessible for 
disabled voters, however the condition of the pathway is 
only reasonable.

Combs Infant School has good level access and a car park 
next to the building.

The Victory Hall has no parking facilities other than those on 
the highway. We need to provide a ramp for this building as 
one is needed to overcome the step.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Buxworth Primary school has good facilities for staff as has 
Chinley Chapel. 

The Chinley and Buxworth Centre has a fully equipped 
kitchen. 

The polling station staff who worked at Combs school 
described the facilities as superb. 

Facilities at the Victory Hall, whilst being sparse, are 
adequate.

Page 123



Is the location convenient 
to voters

Buxworth Primary School is situated in BL2.  It is convenient 
to both BL1 & BL2 as it is central to both areas

Chinley Chapel is near the highest concentration of houses 
in a very rural polling district 

The Chinley and Buxworth Centre is close to the centre of 
population

Combs Infant School is convenient for the residents of BL5 
but not for the people who live on BL6.

The Victory Hall is close to the largest concentration of 
properties, this area is quite spread out.

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

Local Ward Members have received comments from the 
residents on Crossings Road and Manchester Road stating 
that they would prefer to vote at the Playhouse in Chapel. 

Therefore consideration has been given to this request, 
however, the fact that the Playhouse has poor parking 
facilities and is already an extremely busy station with 
maximum capacity which is in a different Ward this is not 
deemed to be a suitable alternative location. 

Alternative venues at Chapel Golf Club and the Hanging 
Gate have previously been considered and were unsuitable 
due to accessibility.

DRO comments After careful consideration of the above and the unsuitability 
of alternative venues within the Ward, I recommend that we 
continue with the existing arrangements.

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 124



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

CHAPEL EAST WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Beresford Memorial Hall, Sparrowpit
The Methodist Church, Town End, Market Street, Chapel-
en-le-Frith

Serving Polling Districts CE1, CE2

Number of Polling 
Stations

3 (Methodist Church is a double station)

Number of voters 1693 in total
CE1 1611, CE2 82

Physical Accessibility Beresford Memorial Hall – pathway in a very bad state of 
repair.  Car park also in bad state of repair, no disabled 
parking.  Level access to polling station.

The Methodist Church – pathway good. Car park, but no 
designated disabled parking. Level access to polling station.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Satisfactory

Is the location convenient 
to voters

Yes- central to population, even though just outside of 
polling district CE2

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

Comments received regarding the total number of electorate 
in Chapel East Ward compared to the larger electorate in 
Chapel West Ward. Also the large amount of electorate for 
The Playhouse, Chapel-en-le-Frith, the limited parking and 
the large numbers of people who gather outside the main 
entrance of the station.

DRO comments After careful consideration of the above, I recommend that 
we continue with the existing arrangements.

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 125



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

CHAPEL WEST WARD

REPORT

Polling Station The Playhouse, Eccles Road, Chapel-en-le-Frith

Serving Polling Districts CW1

Number of Polling 
Stations

3 (Triple Station)

Number of voters 3862

Physical Accessibility Pavement to main entrance and pathway to disabled 
entrance is adequate.  No carpark. Ramp disabled access to 
side of building.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Heating and lighting inadequate additional lighting has to be 
provided.

Is the location convenient 
to voters

Yes, central to population and Polling District

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

Comments received regarding the total number of electorate 
in Chapel East Ward compared to the larger electorate in 
Chapel West Ward. Also the large amount of electorate for 
The Playhouse, Chapel-en-le-Frith, the limited parking and 
the large numbers of people who gather outside the main 
entrance of the station.
Additional comments were made regarding the preference to 
choose which station you vote at within Chapel as a whole.

DRO comments After careful consideration of the above, I recommend that 
we continue with the existing arrangements. 

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 126



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

LIMESTONE PEAK WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Great Rocks Club, Peak Dale
Over 60s Club, Hallsteads, Dove Holes
The Village Hall, Wormhill

Serving Polling Districts LP1, LP2, LP3, LP4, LP5

Number of Polling 
Stations

3

Number of voters 1691
LP1 72, LP2 853, LP3 628, LP4 134, LP5 4

Physical Accessibility Great Rocks Club – condition of the pathway is good.  There 
is a car park and ample parking is also close to the 
entrance, no designated disabled parking.

Over 60s Club – the condition of the pathway is good, with 
direct access from the car park.  Disabled parking is next to 
the door.

The Village Hall – the pathway is not in very good condition 
as part of the path is stone chippings and the other part 
tarmac.  There is on-road parking only.  There is a tarmac 
ramp for disabled access which is in reasonable condition.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Great Rocks Club – facilities are satisfactory

Over 60s Club – facilities are satisfactory

The Village Hall – facilities are satisfactory
Is the location convenient 
to voters

Great Rocks Club – the polling station is convenient for the 
majority of voters although not centre of village.

Over 60s Club – the polling station is convenient as it is in 
the centre of the village 

The Village Hall – the polling station is convenient as it is in 
the centre of the village

Any recent major 
development

No

Page 127



Any proposed 
development

Erection of residential development of 83 units on land off 
Hallsteads Close, Dove Holes
27 Residential dwellings on land between 14 and 23 Batham 
Gate Road, Peak Dale

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

Comments received concerning the locations for a small 
number of properties who are on the same road but vote at 
different stations. After inspection of the location of the 
properties they were confirmed to be in the correct Ward 
and voting in the correct station allocated. This is due to the 
Ward boundaries for the area.

DRO comments After careful consideration of the above the current 
arrangements are correct and will continue. 

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 128



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

SIMMONDLEY WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Simmondley Primary School, Pennine Road, Simmondley

Serving Polling Districts SI1, SI2, SI3, SI4

Number of Polling 
Stations

3

Number of voters 3418
SI1 731, SI2 1305, SI3 763, SI4 719

Physical Accessibility Simmondley Primary School – pathway is tarmac and in 
good condition.  Car park at the side of the school, no 
designated disabled parking.  Level access into polling 
station.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Simmondley Primary School – all facilities are satisfactory

Is the location convenient 
to voters

Simmondley Primary School – the polling station is very 
convenient for voters in SI1 and SI2, but further to travel for 
SI3 & SI4

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

Comments received regarding the use of a school as a 
polling station, and preference for the use of other building 
instead.
Consideration has been given to try to locate alternative 
venues which would be satisfactory for the large number of 
electorate involved.

DRO comments After careful consideration of the above, I recommend that 
we continue with the existing arrangements.

Proposals for Change None

Reasons for Change None

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL                 

POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

BARMS WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Fairfield Methodist Church

Serving Polling Districts BA1 BA2

Number of Polling 
Stations in building

2 (Double Station)

Number of voters 1385 (BA1 648, BA2 737)

Physical Accessibility Excellent access with parking, although no designated 
disabled parking.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Yes

Is the location convenient 
to voters

Yes- central in the built-up area.  Although outside the 
polling district for BA1 it is still in a convenient location. 

Any recent major 
development

No

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

We have been notified that Fairfield Methodist Church will 
not be available for use from 2020, therefore, we proposed 
to move the station to St Peters Church, Fairfield, Buxton

DRO comments After consideration of all the information, I recommend that 
we move the station to St Peters Church Fairfield, Buxton.

Proposals for Change Yes

Reasons for Change Unavailability of current location

Page 131



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

BURBAGE WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Burbage Institute, Nursery Lane, Buxton (BU1/BU2)
St John Ambulance Hall, Harris Road (BU3/CH3)
Sterndale Moor Club, Sterndale Moor (BU4)

Serving Polling Districts BU1, BU2, BU3, BU4, CH3

Number of Polling 
Stations

3 or 4 depending on the election.

Number of voters 2456 in total
BU1 1268, BU2 16, BU3 49, BU4 261 (CH3 862)

Physical Accessibility Burbage Institute has limited parking although on road 
parking is also no designated disabled parking, however, 
disabled access is not an issue. 

The pathway to the St John Ambulance Hall is on a slope 
but the path is satisfactory. There is car parking but again 
this is in poor condition and there is no disabled parking. 
Ramp for disabled access

Sterndale Moor Club has a reasonable path and car park, 
however, there is no designated disabled parking. 

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

All polling stations in this ward have good facilities for staff

Is the location convenient 
to voters

Burbage Institute is in a convenient central location for 
voters.

St John Ambulance is convenient for CH3 but is not in the 
polling district for BU3.

Sterndale Moor Club is convenient for the largest 
concentration of the population.

Any recent major 
development

No

Page 132



Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

We have been notified that St John Ambulance is not 
available for use at the May 2020 elections. 

DRO comments Continue to use the current polling station of St John 
Ambulance, Harris Road, Buxton, but move temporarily for 
the May 2020 election to the Methodist Chapel, Harpur Hill, 
Buxton. The Methodist Chapel is suitable as a temporary 
venue but it is on a main road and the proposal is to return 
to St John Ambulance which on balance is a more suitable 
location. 

Proposals for Change Temporary move to Methodist Chapel, Harpur Hill, Buxton

Reasons for Change Polling Station not available for Scheduled May 2020 
elections.

Page 133



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

COTE HEATH WARD

REPORT

Polling Station St John Ambulance Hall, Harris Road, Buxton
The Parish Hall, King Sterndale
Kents Bank House, Kents Bank Road, Buxton
Former Sure Start, Trent Avenue Buxton

Serving Polling Districts CH1, CH2, CH3 (BU3), CH4

Number of Polling 
Stations

4 or 5 depending on Election

Number of voters 3153 in total for CH1,2,3,4
CH1 115, CH2 985, CH3 862, CH4 1191
(BU3 49)

Physical Accessibility The pathway to the St John Ambulance Hall is on a slope 
but the path is satisfactory. There is car parking but again 
this is in poor condition and there is no disabled parking. 
Ramp for disabled access

The Parish Hall, King Sterndale – the pathway is tarmac and 
is in good condition.  No car park is available, although there 
is on-road car parking.  There is level access into the 
building.

Kents Bank House – pathway is tarmac and in excellent 
condition.  Disable parking is available next to the entrance

Former Sure Start – pathway and car park is tarmac and in 
excellent condition.  Disabled parking is available.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

St John Ambulance Hall – the facilities are satisfactory

Parish Hall, King Sterndale – the facilities are satisfactory

Kents Bank House - the facilities are satisfactory

Former Sure Start – the facilities are very good
Is the location convenient 
to voters

St John Ambulance Hall – the polling station is convenient 
for CH3, but is not in the polling district for BU3

Parish Hall, King Sterndale – the polling station is central to 
the polling district in a very rural area

Kents Bank House – the polling station is convenient for the 
electorate.

Page 134



Former Sure Start – polling station was created at a 
previous polling station review for the residents living at the 
bottom of Harpur Hill so they did not need to travel to the top 
of Harpur Hill to vote in St Johns Ambulance Hall.  This 
arrangement is much more convenient for the residents at 
the bottom whilst maintaining the polling station at the top of 
Harpur Hill for the residents who live in that vicinity.  

Any recent major 
development

272 New Properties - Harpur Hill development approved

Any proposed 
development

No

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

We have been notified that St John Ambulance is not 
available for use at the May 2020 scheduled elections

DRO comments Continue to use the current polling station of St John 
Ambulance, Harris Road, Buxton, but move temporarily for 
the May 2020 election to the Methodist Chapel, Harpur Hill, 
Buxton. The Methodist Chapel is suitable as a temporary 
venue but it is on a main road and the proposal is to return 
to St John Ambulance which on balance is a more suitable 
location. 

Proposals for Change Yes

Reasons for Change Polling Station not available for Scheduled May 2020 
elections.

Page 135



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
POLLING DISTRICT REVIEW

OLD GLOSSOP WARD

REPORT

Polling Station Old Glossop Cricket Club, Manor Park Road, Old Glossop

Pyegrove Tennis Club, Pyegrove Road, Off Woodcock Road 

Mobile Building, Play Area, Off Shirebrook Drive
Serving Polling Districts OG1, OG2, OG3, OG4

Number of Polling 
Stations

3

Number of voters 3730
OG1 789, OG2 1028, OG3 1111, OG4 802

Physical Accessibility Old Glossop Cricket Club – pathway is an unmade track in 
reasonable condition.  Car park area is available but not 
marked, and there is no designated disabled parking.

Pyegrove Tennis Club – pathway is in excellent condition.  
No disabled parking.  A concrete ramp is in place which is in 
excellent condition, although a wheelchair may struggle 
turning to get into the building.

Mobile Building – Need to provide a ramp to make it 
accessible.

Adequacy of facilities for 
staff

Old Glossop Cricket Club – all facilities are satisfactory

Pyegrove Tennis Club – all facilities are satisfactory

Mobile Building – facilities not ideal, no running water, 
portable toilet

Is the location convenient 
to voters

Old Glossop Cricket Club - The polling station is convenient 
to the electorate

Pyegrove Tennis Club – The polling station is convenient for 
the electorate in OG2 but not for the electorate in OG4

Mobile Building – need to provide own water supply, no 
other facilities available.  Portaloo provided.

Any recent major 
development

No

Page 136



Any proposed 
development

Residential development for 56 new dwellings on land East 
of Bute Street, Hawkshead Fold, Glossop

Comments received as 
part of Consultation 
process

Received comments regarding the location of the Polling 
Station for electors in OG4.  They currently have to use 
Pyegrove Tennis Club and would prefer to use the Mobile 
Building, Off Shirebrook Drive, Glossop which is currently 
used by OG3.

DRO comments After careful consideration of all the information provided, I 
would recommend moving the electorate of OG4 from 
Pyegrove Tennis Club to the Mobile Building, Off Shirebrook 
Drive. Confirmation has been received that a larger mobile 
can be provided to accommodate the increase in voters.

Proposals for Change Yes

Reasons for Change Current location of polling station unsuitable

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Audit & Regulatory Committee

23 October 2019

TITLE: Appointment of Independent Member

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Alan Barrow - Executive 
Councillor for Corporate Services and 
Finance

CONTACT OFFICER: Linden Vernon – Senior Officer (Governance 
and Member Support)

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-Specific

Appendix A attached - Independent Member Job Description

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To consider the recruitment of an Independent Member to the Committee.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That an advertisement be placed for the vacant position of Independent 
Member to the Committee.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 Following a review of the effectiveness of the Audit and Regulatory Committee 
Council resolved that the Committee comprise 9 elected members and 3 (non-
voting) independent members. One of the three independent members 
resigned earlier this year and it is necessary to recruit to the vacant position.

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 
effective scrutiny and development of Council polices and services.

Page 139

Agenda Item 10



5. Alternative Options

5.1 There are no options to consider.

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Report to Council 11 May 2017
Job Description - attached

Linden Vernon
Senior Officer (Governance and Member 
Support)
linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

6. Detail

6.1 Following a review of the effectiveness of the Audit and Regulatory Committee 
a self-assessment demonstrated that there was a shortfall in some specialist 
areas of knowledge. The committee therefore resolved to consider the 
appointment of independent members whose skills would need to be focussed 
in the areas where a shortfall had been identified.

6.2 At its meeting on 11 May 2017 Council  resolved that the Committee comprise 
9 elected members and 3 (non-voting) independent members and that 
delegated responsibility be granted to the Audit and Regulatory Committee to 
appoint future independent members.

6.3 The Committee subsequently appointed Mr Peter Grant, Mrs Cheryl Morgan 
and Mr Martin Thomas to these positions.  Due to a change in personal 
circumstances Mrs Morgan resigned from her position with the Council earlier 
this year and it is therefore necessary to recruit to the vacant position that has 
arisen.

6.4 It is recommended that the vacancy be advertised via the Council’s website 
and that shortlisted candidates be interviewed by the Chair/Vice-Chair of the 
Audit and Regulatory Committee and the Executive Councillor for Corporate 
Services and Finance.

6.5 The position will receive an allowance of £395 per annum and the appointee 
will be able to claim out of pocket expenses.  

Page 140

https://democracy.highpeak.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=211&MId=358&Ver=4


INDEPENDENT MEMBER
AUDIT AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE

JOB DESRCRIPTION

Key Purpose

The purpose of the Independent Member is to attend meetings of the Audit and 
Regulatory Committee to effectively discharge its role by providing advice and 
scrutiny on matters relating to the Council’s arrangements for governance, risk 
management, control frameworks, financial reporting processes, internal/external 
audit and elections.

Technical Skills Required

Knowledge in one or more of the following areas:

Accountancy  Able to engage with the review of accounts
 Understanding of professional financial standards
 Able to engage with the external auditors

Internal audit  Awareness of internal audit standards
 Effective oversight of internal audit work

Risk management  Enhanced knowledge of risk management
 Able to provide critical review of risk registers

Governance & legal  Add value to the consideration of governance issues

Generic Skills Required

 High ethical standards
 Good communication skills
 A willingness to participate in meetings
 Ability to take an independent, unbiased and objective view
 Ability to examine evidence and complex documentation
 Ability to ask searching questions

Time Commitment

Attendance at approximately 4 meetings per year plus preparation time.

Remuneration

An annual allowance of £395.00 is payable for performing this role (expenses will 
also be reimbursed).

Page 141



Special Conditions

Independent members should not:

 Be active in local or national politics.
 Have a close relationship with any Member or Officer of the Council.

In addition:

 You will be required to sign and undertake to comply with the Council’s Code of 
Conduct for Members.

Page 142



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Audit & Regulatory Committee

23 October 2019

TITLE: Appointment of Mayor 2020/21

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Anthony McKeown - Leader

CONTACT OFFICER: Linden Vernon – Senior Officer (Governance 
and Member Support)

WARDS INVOLVED: (All Wards);

Appendices Attached – None

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To consider the selection of the Mayor for the municipal year 2020/21.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That at its meeting on 4 December 2019 Council confirm that the Labour 
Group be invited to make a nomination for the appointment of Mayor of the 
Borough and Chairman of the Council for the municipal year 2020/21.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The Mayor is selected according to a points system as referred to in Article 5 
of the Constitution and detailed in the Protocol for the Nomination of Mayor.

3.2 The system started with the actual number of members in each political group.  
Since 1980, annual adjustments have been made according to changes in 
each group’s strength.  Taking into account the current points position the 
Labour Group have the most points as at 1 October 2019.

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 Not applicable

Page 143

Agenda Item 11



5. Alternative Options

5.1 There are no options to consider.  Nomination of the Mayor is in accordance 
with the points system as referred to in the report.

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Article 5 of the Constitution and Protocol for the 
Nomination of Mayor

Linden Vernon
Senior Officer (Governance and Member 
Support)
linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

6. Detail

6.1 The Mayor is selected according to a points system as referred to in Article 5 
of the Constitution and detailed in the Protocol for the Nomination of Mayor.

6.2 The basic principle is the political group with most points at 1 October each 
year, has the opportunity to nominate the Mayor for the next municipal year.

6.3 The system started with the actual number of members in each political group. 
Since 1980, annual adjustments have been made according to changes in 
each group’s strength. The points allocated to the political groups have been 
adjusted following the elections held in May this year.

6.4 Whenever a group nominate a Mayor, ten points are deducted from their 
points total and this shows up the following October. 

6.5 The points system for the selection of the Mayor currently stands as follows:

Group Points as 
at 1.10.18

Mayor for 
2019/20

Points as 
at 1.10.19

Conservative 15-10=
5 5+16=21

Labour 14 X 14-
10+22=26

Liberal Democrat 11 11+3=14

Green 2

6.6 In respect of the Deputy Mayor, the points system does not apply.

6.7 In some years, the Deputy Mayor has been chosen with a view to progressing 
to Mayor the following year, but this is not always the case.

Page 144

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1295/The-Constitution
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1295/The-Constitution


AUDIT & REGULATORY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20
 

Item Feb
 2020

May
 2020

July
 2020

Oct
 2020 Details 

INTERNAL AUDIT

Internal Audit Progress Report    
Reports on progress against the audit plan inc. key 
performance information.

Annual Audit Plan  To consider and approve the Annual Audit Pan.

Internal Audit Annual Report 
To consider Internal Audit’s annual report and opinion 
on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Council’s internal control environment.

Annual Review of Effectiveness of IA 
To consider an annual review of the effectiveness of 
the Council’s system of internal audit.

Internal Audit Charter
To consider updates to the formal document that 
defines Internal Audit’s purpose, authority and 
responsibility. (as required)

EXTERNAL AUDIT

Audit Committee Update  

A summary of emerging national issues and 
developments that the Committee may wish to 
consider. Also provides a summary of progress on the 
audit – where not covered by other items on the 
agenda.

Audit Fee Letter  Letter setting out annual audit fee .

Audit  Plan 
Report specifying the detailed risks that external audit 
consider as part of their work, the audit approach and 
the result of any interim work

Audit Findings Report 
To consider the external auditor’s report to those 
charged with governance on issues arising from the 
audit of the accounts and the VFM conclusion.

Annual Audit Letter 
To consider the external auditor’s annual report on 
their overall assessment of the Council.

Certification of Claims & Returns Annual 
Report 

Report summarising the findings from work to certify 
grant claims made to the government..

Informing the Audit Risk Assessment 
To consider the risk assessment and understanding of 
management processes.

P
age 145

A
genda Item

 12



Item Feb
 2020

May
 2020

July
 2020

Oct
 2020 Details 

FINANCE

Statement of Accounts 
To review and approve the Council’s annual 
Statement of Accounts.

Treasury Management Update   
Oversight and scrutiny of the Council’s Treasury 
Management position to date and the projected 
outturn.

Annual Treasury Management Report 

To recommend to Council for approval the annual 
Treasury Management Report summarising 
performance and compliance with the Strategy and 
Prudential Indicators.

Treasury Management Strategy 
Oversight and scrutiny of the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy.

CORPORATE

Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 
To review and approve the Annual Governance 
Statement and the underlying assurance evaluation 
process and supporting evidence.

AGS Progress Against Action Plan 
Report on progress made against the actions raised 
as part of the previous years Annual Governance 
Statement process.

Risk Management Update  
Report on developments in the Council’s risk 
management arrangements.

Risk Management Strategy Update of the Risk Management Strategy (biennial 
February)

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy To consider updates to the Council’s Counter Fraud 
& Corruption Strategy. (as required)

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act Policy 
& Procedures 

To consider updates to the Council’s Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act Policy & Procedures. (as 
required)

Whistleblowing Policy To consider updates to the Council’s Whistleblowing 
Policy. (as required)

AUDIT & REGULATORY COMMITTEE

Agree Programme of Work     To agree future work programme of A&R Committee.

Review of Effectiveness of A&R Committee 
inc. Terms of Reference 

To consider the annual review of the effectiveness of 
the Audit & Regulatory Committee and the A&R 
Committee’s Terms of Reference.

P
age 146


	Agenda
	3 To approve the Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 External Audit Update
	5 External Audit 2018/19 Annual Audit Letter
	6 Risk Management Update (overview of strategic, operational and project risks)
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D

	7 Treasury Management - Mid Year Update Report
	Appendix A

	8 2019/20 Internal Audit Periodic Report April 2019 to September 2019
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	9 Review of Polling Places and Polling Stations
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	10 Appointment of Independent Member
	Appendix A

	11 Appointment of Mayor 2020/21
	12 Work Programme

